Gevo, Inc. Form 10-Q November 06, 2018

Table of Contents

UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q

QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the quarterly period ended September 30, 2018

or

TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

Commission File Number 001-35073

GEVO, INC.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware	87-0747704
(State or other jurisdiction of	(I.R.S. Employer
incorporation or organization)	Identification No.)
345 Inverness Drive South, Bui	lding C, Suite 310
Englewood, CO 80112	
(303) 858-8358	
(Address, including zip code, an	nd telephone number, including
area code, of registrant's princi	ipal executive offices)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to be submitted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (Section 232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit such files). Yes No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, smaller reporting company, or an emerging growth company. See the definitions of "large accelerated filer," "accelerated filer,", "smaller reporting company" and "emerging growth company" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act:

Large accelerated filer Accelerated filer

Non-accelerated filer Smaller reporting company Emerging growth company

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition

period for complying with any new or revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act.

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes No

As of October 31, 2018, 8,640,433 shares of the registrant's common stock were outstanding.

GEVO, INC.

FORM 10-Q

FOR THE QUARTERLY PERIOD ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2018

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Page

Item 1.	Financial Statements	3
	Consolidated Balance Sheets as of September 30, 2018 (unaudited) and December 31, 2017	3
	Consolidated Statements of Operations for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018 and	4
	2017 (unaudited)	т
	Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017	5
	(unaudited)	5
	Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements	7
Item 2.	Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations	26
Item 3.	Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk	37
Item 4.	Controls and Procedures	37
PART	II. OTHER INFORMATION	
Item 1.	Legal Proceedings	38
Item	Risk Factors	38
1A.	<u>Kisk Factors</u>	50
Item 2.	Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds	40
Item 3.	Defaults Upon Senior Securities	40
Item 4.	Mine Safety Disclosures	40
Item 5.	Other Information	40

Item 6. <u>Exhibits</u>

Signatures

2

40

PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements.

GEVO, INC.

Consolidated Balance Sheets

(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

	(unaudited) September 30, 2018	December 31, 2017
Assets		
Current assets:		
Cash and cash equivalents	\$38,316	\$11,553
Accounts receivable	637	1,054
Inventories	3,301	4,362
Prepaid expenses and other current assets	949	712
Total current assets	43,203	17,681
Property, plant and equipment, net	66,853	70,369
Deposits and other assets	1,310	803
Total assets	\$111,366	\$ <i>88,853</i>
Liabilities		
Current liabilities:		
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities	\$4,808	\$4,011
2020 Notes embedded derivative liability	691	5,224
Derivative warrant liability	81	1,951
Total current liabilities	5,580	11,186
2020 Notes, net	12,155	13,491
2022 Notes, net	-	515
Other long-term liabilities	407	130
Total liabilities	\$18,142	\$25,322

Commitments and Contingencies (see Note 11)

Stockholders' Equity

Common Stock, \$0.01 par value per share; 250,000,000 authorized, 8,095,120 and		
1,090,553 shares issued and outstanding at September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017,	81	11
respectively		
Additional paid-in capital	515,367	464,870
Accumulated deficit	(422,224) (401,350)
Total stockholders' equity	93,224	63,531
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity	\$111,366	\$ <i>88,853</i>

See the accompanying notes to unaudited consolidated financial statements.

GEVO, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Operations

(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

(unaudited)

	Three Months EndedSeptember 30,20182017		Nine Months September 30 2018	
Revenue and cost of goods sold	-010	-017	2010	
Ethanol sales and related products, net	\$8,071	\$7,376	\$25,102	\$19,709
Hydrocarbon revenue	504	235	1,111	984
Grant and other revenue	-	88	25	163
Total revenues	8,575	7,699	26,238	20,856
Cost of goods sold	10,628	9,709	31,904	28,822
Gross loss	(2,053) (2,010) (5,666)	(7,966)
Operating expenses				
Research and development expense	1,865	1,210	4,123	4,318
Selling, general and administrative expense	2,190	1,893	5,697	6,190
Total operating expenses	4,055	3,103	9,820	10,508
Loss from operations	(6,108) (5,113) (15,486)	(18,474)
Other (expense) income				
Interest expense	(767) (811)) (2,496)	(2,152)
(Loss) on exchange of debt	-	-	(2,202)	(4,933)
(Loss) from change in fair value of the 2017 Notes	-	-	-	(339)
Gain/(Loss) from change in fair value of derivative warrant liability	5	(413) (3,035)	5,106
(Loss)/Gain from change in fair value of 2020 Notes embedded	(7) 2,184	2,340	522
derivative) 2,101	,	
Other income	(3) -	5	26
Total other expense, net	(772) 960	(5,388)	(1,770)
Net loss	\$(6,880) \$(4,153) \$(20,874) \$	\$(20,244)
Net loss per share - basic and diluted	\$(0.85) \$(5.03) \$(5.75) \$	\$(27.91)
Weighted-average number of common shares outstanding - basic and diluted	8,087,39	97 825,408	3,629,370	725,323

See the accompanying notes to unaudited consolidated financial statements.

GEVO, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(in thousands)

(unaudited)

	Nine Mont Ended Sep 30,	
	,	2017
Operating Activities	¢ (20 0 7 4)	¢ (20.244)
Net loss	\$(20,874)	\$(20,244)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:	2.025	(5,105)
Loss/(Gain) from change in fair value of derivative warrant liability	3,035	(5,105)
(Gain) from change in fair value of 2020 Notes embedded derivative	(2,340)	
Loss from the change in fair value of the 2017 Notes	-	<i>339</i>
Loss on exchange of debt	2,202	-
Stock-based compensation	320	
Depreciation and amortization	4,903	<i>,</i>
Non-cash interest expense	1,307 6	
Other non-cash expense	0	-
Changes in operating assets and liabilities: Accounts receivable	417	(121)
Inventories	417 1,061	(
	(295)	· ,
Prepaid expenses and other current assets Accounts payable, accrued expenses, and long-term liabilities	í	
Net cash used in operating activities	104 (10,154)	,
Net cash used in operating activities	(10,134)	(10,441)
Investing Activities		
Acquisitions of property, plant and equipment	(933)	(1,682)
Net cash used in investing activities	(933)	(1,682)
Financing Activities		
Payments on secured debt	-	(9,791)
Debt and equity offering costs	(365)	()
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net of commissions	36,952	
Proceeds from the exercise of common stock warrants	1,263	-
Net cash provided by financing activities	37,850	2,388
Net Increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents	26,763	(15,735)
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash		

Beginning of period
End of period

11,553	30,499
\$38,316	5 \$14,764

See the accompanying notes to unaudited consolidated financial statements.

GEVO, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows - Continued

(in thousands)

(unaudited)

		Nine Months		
Supplemental disclosures of cash and non-cash investing and financing transactions	Ended			
	Septeml	ber,		
	2018	2017		
Cash paid for interest, net of interest capitalized	\$ 1,261	\$2,142		
Non-cash purchase of property, plant and equipment	\$ 440	\$150		
Exchange or conversion of convertible debt into common stock	\$ —	\$8,653		
Accrued debt and equity issuance costs	\$ —	\$29		
Discount due to exchange of 2017 Notes for 2020 Notes	\$ —	\$3,009		
Fair value of 2020 Notes embedded derivative upon exchange of 2017 Notes for 2022 Notes	\$ —	\$6,975		
Fair value of 2020 Notes embedded derivative liability upon conversion into common stock	\$ 2,193	\$—		
Fair value of warrants at issuance and upon exercise, net	\$,4,905	\$4,546		

See the accompanying notes to unaudited consolidated financial statements.

GEVO, INC.

Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements

(unaudited)

1. Nature of Business, Financial Condition, Basis of Presentation and Reverse Stock Split

Nature of Business. Gevo, Inc. ("Gevo" or the "Company," which, unless otherwise indicated, refers to Gevo, Inc. and its subsidiaries) is a renewable chemicals and next generation "low-carbon" fuel company focused on the development and commercialization of renewable alternatives to petroleum-based products. Low-carbon fuels reduce the carbon intensity, or the level of greenhouse gas emissions, compared to standard fossil-based fuels across their lifecycle. The most common low-carbon fuels are renewable fuels. Gevo is focused on the development and production of mainstream fuels like gasoline and jet fuel using renewable feedstocks that have the potential to lower greenhouse gas emissions at a meaningful scale and enhance agricultural production, including food and other related products. In addition to serving the low-carbon fuel markets, through Gevo's technology, Gevo can also serve markets for the production of chemical intermediate products for solvents, plastics and building block chemicals.

In addition to its ethanol production capabilities, the Company developed proprietary technology that uses a combination of synthetic biology, metabolic engineering, chemistry and chemical engineering to make isobutanol and hydrocarbon products from isobutanol that can displace petrochemical incumbent products. The Company has been able to genetically engineer yeast, whereby the yeast produces isobutanol from carbohydrates. The Company's technology converts its renewable isobutanol to alcohol-to-jet ("ATJ"), isooctane, isooctene, and para-xylene (building block for polyester) at its hydrocarbons demonstration plant located at South Hampton Resources located in Silsbee, Texas. In addition the Company's production facility located in Luverne, Minnesota (the "Luverne Facility") has production capacity of about 20 MGPY of ethanol, 45-50 kilotons ("KT") of animal feed, and 3 million pounds of corn oil.

As of September 30, 2018, the Company continues to engage in research and development, business development, business and financial planning, optimizing operations for low-carbon ethanol, isobutanol, and related hydrocarbons production and raising capital to fund future expansion of its Luverne Facility. Ultimately, the Company believes that the attainment of profitable operations is dependent upon future events, including (i) completing certain capital improvements at the Luverne Facility to produce low-carbon ethanol side-by-side with low-carbon isobutanol; (ii) completing the Company's development activities resulting in commercial production and sales of low-carbon ethanol, isobutanol, or isobutanol derived products and/or technology; (iii) obtaining adequate financing to complete the Company's development activities, including the build out of low-carbon ethanol capacity and further isobutanol and hydrocarbon capacity (iv) gaining market acceptance and demand for the Company's products and services; (v)

attracting and retaining qualified personnel; and (vi) the achievement of a level of revenues adequate to support the Company's cost structure.

Financial Condition. For the three months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, we incurred a consolidated net loss of \$6.9 million and \$4.2 million, respectively, and for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, we incurred a consolidated net loss of \$20.9 million and \$20.2 million, respectively, and had an accumulated deficit of \$422.2 million at September 30, 2018. The Company's cash and cash equivalents at September 30, 2018 totaled \$38.3 million and are expected to be used for the following purposes: (i) operating activities of the Luverne Facility; (ii) operating activities at the Company's corporate headquarters in Colorado, including research and development work; (iii) capital improvements primarily associated with the Luverne Facility; (iv) exploration of strategic alternatives and new financings; and (v) debt service and repayment obligations.

GEVO, INC.

Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements

(unaudited)

The Company expects to incur future net losses as it continues to fund the development of its business. To date, the Company has financed its operations primarily with proceeds from multiple sales of equity and debt securities, borrowings under debt facilities and product sales. The Company's transition to profitability is dependent upon, among other things, the successful development of its business and the achievement of a level of revenues adequate to support the Company's cost structure. The Company *may* never achieve profitability or positive cash flows, and unless and until it does, the Company will continue to need to raise additional cash. Management intends to fund future operations through additional private and/or public offerings of debt or equity securities. In addition, the Company may seek additional capital through arrangements with strategic partners or from other sources, it may seek to restructure its debt and it will continue to address its cost structure. Notwithstanding, there can be *no* assurance that the Company will be able to raise additional funds, or achieve or sustain profitability or positive cash flows from operations. Existing working capital was not sufficient to meet the cash requirements to fund planned operations through the period that is one year after the date the Company's audited 2017 year-end financial statements were issued. These conditions raise substantial doubt about the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. The Company's inability to continue as a going concern may potentially affect the Company's rights and obligations under its outstanding senior secured convertible notes. The accompanying financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a going concern and do *not* include adjustments that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty. This basis of accounting contemplates the recovery of the Company's assets and the satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course of business.

At-the-Market Offering Program. In February 2018, the Company commenced an at-the-market offering program, which initially allowed it to sell and issue up to \$5.0 million of shares of the Company's common stock. The at-the-market offering program was amended multiple times in June 2018 to increase the available capacity under the at-the-market offering program by an aggregate of approximately \$84.9 million. As of September 30, 2018, the Company has remaining capacity to issue and sell up to approximately \$52.0 million of additional shares of common stock under the at-the-market offering program.

During the nine months ended September 30, 2018, the Company issued 6,391,617 shares of common stock (after giving effect to the one-for-twenty reverse stock split effected on June 1, 2018) under the at-the-market offering program for gross proceeds of \$37.8 million. The Company paid commissions to its sales agent of approximately \$0.9 million and incurred other offering related expenses of \$0.4 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2018.

During the three months ended September 30, 2018, the Company issued 105,000 shares of common stock under the at-the-market offering program for gross proceeds of \$0.4 million. The Company paid commissions to its sales agent

of approximately \$10,000 and incurred other offering related expenses of approximately \$66,000 during the three months ended September 30, 2018.

The Company issued 545,313 shares of common stock, for gross proceeds of \$2.4 million after September 30, 2018. Net proceeds are intended to be used to fund working capital and for other general corporate purposes, which may include repayment of outstanding indebtedness.

Basis of Presentation. The unaudited consolidated financial statements of the Company (which include the accounts of its wholly-owned subsidiaries Gevo Development, LLC. ("Gevo Development") and Agri-Energy, LLC. ("Agri-Energy") have been prepared, without audit, pursuant to the rules and regulations of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC"). Accordingly, they do *not* include all information and footnotes required by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States ("GAAP") for complete financial statements. These statements reflect all normal and recurring adjustments which, in the opinion of management, are necessary to present fairly the financial position, results of operations and cash flows of the Company at September 30, 2018 and are *not* necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for the full year. These statements should be read in conjunction with the Company's consolidated financial statements and notes thereto included under the heading "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" in Part II, Item 8 of the Company's Annual Report on Form *10*-K for the year ended *December 31, 2017* (the "Annual Report").

Reverse Stock Split. On June 1, 2018, the Company effected a reverse stock split of the outstanding shares of its common stock by a ratio of one-for-twenty, and our common stock began trading on the Nasdaq Capital Market on a reverse stock split-basis on June 4, 2018. Unless otherwise indicated, all share amounts, per share data, share prices, exercise prices and conversion rates set forth in these notes and the accompanying consolidated financial statements have, where applicable, been adjusted retroactively to reflect this reverse stock split.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Leases ("ASU 2016-02"). In *February 2016,* the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") *No. 2016-02, Topic 842 Leases.* ASU-*2016-02* requires leases to be reported on the financial statements. The objective is to increase transparency and comparability among organizations by recognizing lease assets and lease liabilities on the balance sheet and disclosing key information about leasing arrangements. ASU *2016-02* is effective for fiscal years beginning after *December 15, 2018,* including interim periods within those fiscal years. Future minimum lease obligations for leases accounted for as operating leases at September 30, 2018 totaled *\$2.0* million. The Company has conducted an initial evaluation regarding the impact of ASU 2016-02 on the classification and accounting for its outstanding lease obligations. Based on the initial assessment, it has tentatively concluded that the majority of its outstanding lease obligations will require the Company to recognize them as capital leases for classification purposes, recognize the assets under lease in the Company's balance sheet, and a corresponding liability to reflect the obligation(s) to the lessor(s). Any conclusions reached are subject to change before final adoption, effective January 1, 2019 for the Company.

GEVO, INC.

Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements

(unaudited)

Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815). Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Down Round Provisions ("ASU 2017-11"). In July 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-11, Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815) Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Down Round Provisions which simplifies the accounting for certain equity-linked financial instruments and embedded features with down round features that reduce the exercise price when the pricing of a future round of financing is lower. Currently, the existence of such features require classification outside of equity and recognition of changes in the fair value of the instrument in earnings each reporting period. This standard eliminates the need to remeasure the instruments at fair value and allows classification within equity. This standard will *not* materially impact the Company, as the Company's liability classified financial instruments and embedded derivatives that require separation from the host instrument have features other than down-round provisions that require current accounting and classification.

Adoption of New Accounting Pronouncements.

Revenue from Contracts with Customers ("ASU 2014-09"). In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers. The objective of ASU 2014-09 is to outline a new, single comprehensive model to use in accounting for revenue arising from contracts with customers. The new revenue recognition model provides a *five*-step analysis for determining when and how revenue is recognized, depicting the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration that is expected to be received in exchange for those goods or services. ASU 2014-09 is effective for fiscal years and interim periods within those years beginning after December 15, 2016. On July 9, 2015, the FASB Board voted to delay the implementation of ASU 2014-09 by one year to December 15, 2017. In April 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-10 Revenue from Contracts with Customers, Identifying Performance Obligations and Licensing ("ASU 2016-10") which provides additional clarification regarding Identifying Performance Obligations and Licensing. The new standard is required to be applied retrospectively to each prior reporting period presented or retrospectively with the cumulative effect of initially applying it recognized at the date of initial application. As a result of the Company's conclusions below, there was no impact upon revenue recognition, historical or otherwise, due to the adoption of ASU 2014-09 effective January 1, 2018, and accordingly, there is no requirement to select a transition method.

The Company's current and historical revenues have consisted of the following: (a) ethanol sales and related products revenue, net; (b) hydrocarbon revenue; and (c) grant and other revenue, which has primarily consisted of revenues from governmental and cooperative research grants. The following provides the Company's assessment on how this standard impacted the Company upon its adoption effective *January 1, 2018*.

Ethanol sales and related products revenues, net. Ethanol sales and related products revenues, net are sold to customers on a "free-on-board, shipping point" basis. Each transaction occurs independent of any other sale, and once sold, there are *no* future obligations on the part of the Company to provide post-sale support or promises to deliver future goods or services. The Company has sold and continues to sell close to *100%* of its ethanol production to a single customer, representing 72% and 77% of total revenues for the three months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively, and 72% and 77% of total revenues for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and *2017*, respectively. Upon completion of the Company's review of this customer and, consistent with prior assessments, the Company determined that there is no impact on how it accounts for sales of ethanol to this customer. The Company further evaluated related products, including distiller's grains, corn oil and isobutanol, and after its review, there is no material impact, either historically or prospectively, as to how the Company recognizes or will recognize these revenues upon the Company's adoption of this standard in the 2019 fiscal year.

Hydrocarbon revenue. Hydrocarbon revenues include sales of ATJ, isooctene and isooctane and are sold both on a "free-on-board, shipping point" or "free-on-board, destination" basis. Each transaction occurs independent of any other sale, and once sold, there are *no* future obligations on the part of the Company to provide post-sale support or promises to deliver future goods or services. The Company has determined that there is *no* material impact as to how the Company has historically recognized or will recognize revenues upon adopting this standard on *January 1, 2018*.

Grant and other revenues. Grant and other revenues have historically consisted of primarily governmental and cooperative research grants, of which the *Northwest Advanced Renewables Alliance* ("NARA") grant, funded by the United States Department of Agriculture ("USDA"), comprised the majority of these revenues since 2014. After reviewing this arrangement, the Company concluded that this grant consists of a non-reciprocal arrangement, and therefore, does *not* qualify as a contract pursuant to Topic 606 "*Revenues from Contracts with Customers*", which was established with the issuance of ASU 2014-09. However, Topic 606 stipulates revenue recognition under these circumstances, and the Company determined that there is *no* change to revenue recognition upon adopting this standard on *January 1, 2018*.

GEVO, INC.

Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements

(unaudited)

Statement of Cash Flows – Restricted Cash ("ASU 2016-18"). In November 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-18, Statement of Cash Flows – Restricted Cash, which standardizes the classification and presentation of changes in restricted cash on the statement of cash flows. This amendment requires that that a statement of cash flows explain the change during the period in the total of cash, cash equivalents, and amounts generally described as restricted cash or restricted cash equivalents. This amendment was effective for public business entities for fiscal years beginning after *December 15, 2017*, but early adoption was permitted. This standard must be applied retrospectively for all periods presented. The Company's adoption of this standard on *January 1, 2018* materially impacted the presentation of the Company's previously presented 2017 statements of cash flows for the three, six, *nine* and *twelve* months ended *December 31, 2017*, as the Company released approximately \$2.6 million of restricted cash in *April 2017*. *Prior to the adoption of this standard, the 2017 beginning of period cash and cash equivalents,* and restricted cash balance totaled \$30.5 million.

2. Earnings per Share

Basic net loss per share is computed by dividing the net loss for the period by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the reporting period. Diluted earnings (loss) per share ("EPS") includes the dilutive effect of common stock equivalents and is computed using the weighted-average number of common stock and common stock equivalents outstanding during the reporting period. Diluted EPS for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018 and *2017* excluded common stock equivalents because the effect of their inclusion would be anti-dilutive, or would decrease the reported loss per share.

The following table sets forth securities outstanding that could potentially dilute the calculation of diluted earnings per share.

	September 30,		
	2018	2017	
Warrants to purchase common stock - liability classified (see Note 7)	58,902	497,619	
Warrant to purchase common stock - equity classified	6	70	
2020 Notes	1,094,282	1,465,833	
2022 Notes	_	16	

Outstanding stock appreciation rights	132,559	_
Outstanding options to purchase common stock	813	3,846
Unvested restricted common stock	290,300	214
Total	1,576,862	1,967,598

3. Revenues from Contracts with Customers Other Revenues

The Company's current and historical revenues have consisted of the following: (a) ethanol sales and related products revenue, net; (b) hydrocarbon revenue; and (c) grant and other revenue, which primarily has historically consisted of revenues from governmental and cooperative research grants.

Ethanol sales and related products revenues, net. Ethanol sales and related products revenues, net are sold to customers on a "free-on-board, shipping point" basis. Each transaction occurs independent of any other sale, and once sold, there are *no* future obligations on the part of the Company to provide post-sale support or promises to deliver future goods or services.

GEVO, INC.

Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements

(unaudited)

Hydrocarbon revenue. Hydrocarbon revenues include sales of ATJ, isooctene and isooctane and are sold mostly on a "free-on-board, shipping point" basis. Each transaction occurs independent of any other sale, and once sold, there are *no* future obligations on the part of the Company to provide post-sale support or promises to deliver future goods or services.

Grant and other revenues. Grant and other revenues primarily have historically consisted of governmental and cooperative research grants, of which the NARA grant, funded by the USDA, comprised the majority of those revenues since 2014. After reviewing this arrangement, the Company has concluded that this grant consists of a non-reciprocal arrangement, and therefore, does *not* qualify as a contract pursuant to Topic 606 "*Revenues from Contracts with Customers*". Other revenues also include occasional short-term (less than *one-year*) consulting services and until *December* of 2017, the lease of the Company's corn storage bins at its Luverne, MN facility.

The following table sets forth the components of the Company's revenues between those generated from contracts with customers and those generated from arrangements that do *not* constitute a contract with a customer (in thousands):

	Three Months Ended September 30, 2018 Revenues from			
Major Goods/Service Line	Contra with	Other cts Revenues		Total
	Custom	ers		
Ethanol sales and related products, net	\$8,071	\$	-	\$8,071
Hydrocarbon revenue	504		-	504
Grant and other revenue	-		-	-
	\$8,575	\$	-	\$8,575
Timing of Revenue Recognition				
Goods transferred at a point in time	\$8,575	\$	-	\$8,575
Services transferred over time	-		-	-
	\$8,575	\$	-	\$8,575
Operating Segment				
Gevo	\$504	\$	-	\$504

Gevo Development / Agri-Energy	8,071	-	8,071
	\$8,575 \$	-	\$8,575
Geographic Region			
United States	\$8,071 \$	-	\$8,071
Other	504	-	504
	\$8,575 \$	-	\$8,575

Three Months Ended September 30, 2017 Revenues from

Major Goods/Service Line	Contrae with		her venues	Total
	Custom	ers		
Ethanol sales and related products, net	\$7,376	\$	-	\$7,376
Hydrocarbon revenue	235		-	235
Grant and other revenue	-		88	88
	\$7,611	\$	88	\$7,699
Timing of Revenue Recognition				
Goods transferred at a point in time	\$7,611	\$	-	\$7,611
Services transferred over time	-		88	88
	\$7,611	\$	88	\$7,699
Operating Segment				
Gevo	\$235	\$	44	\$279
Gevo Development / Agri-Energy	7,376		44	7,420
	\$7,611	\$	88	\$7,699
Geographic Region				
United States	\$7,376	\$	88	\$7,464
Other	235		-	235
	\$7,611	\$	88	\$7,699

	Nine Mo Septemb Revenue from			
Major Goods/Service Line	Contract with	S	her venues	Total
	Custome	ers		
Ethanol sales and related products, net	\$25,102	\$	-	\$25,102
Hydrocarbon revenue	1,111		-	1,111
Grant and other revenue	25		-	25
	\$26,238	\$	-	\$26,238
Timing of Revenue Recognition				
Goods transferred at a point in time	\$26,213	\$	-	\$26,213
Services transferred over time	25		-	25
	\$26,238	\$	-	\$26,238
Operating Segment				
Gevo	\$1,136	\$	-	\$1,136
Gevo Development / Agri-Energy	25,102		-	25,102
	\$26,238	\$	-	\$26,238
Geographic Region				
United States	\$25,127	\$	-	\$25,127
Other	1,111		-	1,111
	\$26,238	\$	-	\$26,238

	Nine Mo Septemb Revenue from			
Major Goods/Service Line	Contract with	S	ther evenues	Total
	Custome	ers		
Ethanol sales and related products, net	\$19,709	\$	-	\$19,709
Hydrocarbon revenue	984		-	984
Grant and other revenue	-		163	163
	\$20,693	\$	163	\$20,856
Timing of Revenue Recognition				
Goods transferred at a point in time	\$20,693	\$	-	\$20,693
Services transferred over time	-		163	163
	\$20,693	\$	163	\$20,856
Operating Segment				
Gevo	\$984	\$	43	\$1,027

19,709 \$ <i>20,693</i>	\$	120 163	19,829 \$20,856
\$19,709	\$	163	\$19,872
984		-	984
\$20,693	\$	163	\$20,856
	\$20,693 \$19,709 984	\$20,693 \$ \$19,709 \$ 984	\$20,693 \$ 163 \$19,709 \$ 163

GEVO, INC.

Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements

(unaudited)

Goods transferred at a point-in-time. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, there were *no* contracts with customers for which consideration was variable or for which there were multiple performance obligations for any given contract. Accordingly, the entire transaction price is allocated to the goods transferred. As of September 30, 2018 and *December 31, 2017*, there were *no* remaining unfulfilled or partially fulfilled performance obligations.

All goods transferred are tested to ensure product sold satisfies contractual product specifications prior to transfer. The customer obtains control of the goods when title and risk of loss for the goods has transferred, which in most cases is *"free-on-board, shipping point"*. All material contracts have payment terms of between *one* to three months, and there are *no* return or refund rights.

Services transferred over time. For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, there were *no* contracts for which consideration was variable or for which there were multiple performance obligation for any given contract. Accordingly, the entire transaction price is allocated to the individual service performance obligation. As of September 30, 2018 and *December 31, 2017*, there were *no* material unfulfilled or partially fulfilled performance obligations.

For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, revenues were recognized ratably over time, as the performance obligation was satisfied and benefit to the customer was transferred on a ratable basis over time.

Contract Assets and Trade Receivables. As of September 30, 2018 and *December 31, 2017*, there were *no* contract assets or liabilities as all customer amounts owed to the Company are unconditional and the Company does *not* receive payment in advance for its products. Accordingly, amounts owed by customers are classified as account receivables on the Company's consolidated balance sheets. In addition, due to the nature of the Company's contracts, there are *no* costs incurred or to be paid in the future that qualify for asset recognition as a cost to fulfill or obtain a contract. The Company did *not* incur any impairment losses on any receivables as all amounts owed were paid or current as of September 30, 2018 and *December 31, 2017*.

4. Inventories

The following table sets forth the components of the Company's inventory balances (in thousands).

	September 30, 2018	December 31, 2017
Raw materials		
Corn	\$ 84	\$ 189
Enzymes and other inputs	133	202
Nutrients	1	5
Finished goods		
Ethanol	303	222
Isobutanol	643	1,122
Jet Fuels, Isooctane and Isooctene	367	524
Distiller's grains	67	59
Work in process - Agri-Energy	200	197
Work in process - Gevo	45	437
Spare parts	1,458	1,405
Total inventories	\$ 3,301	\$ 4,362

Work in process inventory includes unfinished jet fuel, isooctane, and isooctene inventory.

GEVO, INC.

Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements

(unaudited)

5. Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets

The following table sets forth the components of the Company's prepaid expenses and other current assets in the consolidated balance sheets (in thousands).

	September 30, 2018	December 31, 2017
All other non-trade receivables Prepaid assets	\$ 67 882	\$ 73 639
Total prepaid expenses and other current assets	001	\$ 712

6. Property, Plant and Equipment

The following table sets forth the Company's property, plant and equipment by classification (in thousands).

	Life	September 30,	r December 31,	
	(in years)	2018	2017	
Construction in progress		\$1,716	\$479	
Plant machinery and equipment	10	16,284	16,284	
Site improvements	10	7,055	7,051	
Luverne retrofit asset	20	70,842	70,842	
Lab equipment, furniture and fixtures and vehicles	5	6,574	6,513	
Demonstration plant	2	3,597	3,597	

Buildings	10	2,543	2,543
Computer, office equipment and software	3	1,838	1,795
Leasehold improvements, pilot plant, land and support equipment	2-5	2,536	2,536
Total property, plant and equipment		112,985	111,640
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization		(46,132) (41,271)
Property, plant and equipment, net		\$66,853	\$ 70,369

Included in cost of goods sold is depreciation of \$1.6 million and \$1.5 million during the three months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively, and \$4.7 million and \$4.6 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

Included in operating expenses is depreciation of \$0.1 million and \$0.1 million for the three months ended September 30, 2018 and \$0.2 million and \$0.4 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

7. Embedded Derivatives and Derivative Warrant Liabilities

2020 Notes Embedded Derivative

In *June 2017*, the Company issued its *12%* convertible senior secured notes due *2020* (the "*2020* Notes") in exchange for its *12.0%* convertible senior secured notes due *2017* (the "*2017* Notes"). The *2020* Notes contain the following embedded derivatives: (i) a Make-Whole Payment (as defined in the indenture governing the *2020* Notes (the "*2020* Notes Indenture")) upon either conversion or redemption; (ii) right to redeem the outstanding principal upon a Fundamental Change (as defined in the *2020* Notes Indenture); (iii) issuer rights to convert into a limited number of shares in any given *three* month period commencing *nine* -months from the issuance date and dependent on the stock price exceeding *150%* of the then in-effect conversion price over a *ten*-business day period; and (iv) holder rights to convert into either shares of the Company's common stock or pre-funded warrants upon the election of the holders of the *2020* Notes.

Embedded derivatives are separated from the host contract and the 2020 Notes, and carried at fair value when: (a) the embedded derivative possesses economic characteristics that are *not* clearly and closely related to the economic characteristics of the host contract; and (b) a separate, stand-alone instrument with the same terms would qualify as a derivative instrument. The Company has concluded that certain embedded derivatives within the 2020 Notes meet these criteria and, as such, must be valued separate and apart from the 2020 Notes as *one* embedded derivative and recorded at fair value each reporting period.

GEVO, INC.

Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements

(unaudited)

The Company used a binomial lattice model in order to estimate the fair value of the embedded derivative in the 2020 Notes. A binomial lattice model generates *two* probable outcomes, whether up or down, arising at each point in time, starting from the date of valuation until the maturity date. A lattice was initially used to determine if the 2020 Notes would be converted by the holder, called by the issuer, or held at each decision point. Within the binomial lattice model, the following assumptions are made: (i) the 2020 Notes will be converted by the holder if the conversion value plus the holder's Make-Whole Payment is greater than the holding value; or (ii) the 2020 Notes will be called by the issuer if (a) the stock price exceeds 150% of the then in-effect conversion price over a *ten*-business day period and (b) if the holding value is greater than the conversion value plus the Make-Whole Payment at the time. Using this binomial lattice model, the Company valued the embedded derivative using a "with-and-without method", where the value of the 2020 Notes including the embedded derivative is defined as the "with", and the value of the 2020 Notes excluding the embedded derivative is defined as the "without". This method estimates the value of the embedded derivative by comparing the difference in the values between the 2020 Notes with the embedded derivative and the value of the 2020 Notes without the embedded derivative. The binomial lattice model requires the following inputs: (i) price of Gevo common stock; (ii) Conversion Rate (as defined in the 2020 Notes Indenture); (iii) Conversion Price (as defined in the 2020 Notes Indenture); (iv) maturity date; (v) risk-free interest rate; (vi) estimated stock volatility; and (vii) estimated credit spread for the Company.

As of September 30, 2018, the estimated fair value of the embedded derivatives was \$0.7 million. Any change in the estimated fair value of the embedded derivatives represents an unrealized gain or loss, which has been recorded as *a* \$7 *thousand loss and a* \$2.3 million gain from the change in fair value of embedded derivatives in the consolidated statements of operations for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018, respectively. The Company recorded the estimated fair value of the embedded derivative with the 2020 Notes, net in the consolidated balance sheets.

The following table sets forth the inputs to the lattice model that were used to value the embedded derivatives.

	September 30,	December 31,
	2018	2017
Stock price	\$3.96	11.80
Conversion Rate per \$1,000	67.9	1,358.90
Conversion Price	\$14.72	\$14.72
Maturity date	March 15, 2020	March 15, 2020

Risk-free interest rate	2.66	%	1.89	%
Estimated stock volatility	130	%	75	%
Estimated credit spread	27	%	28	%

Changes in certain inputs into the lattice model can have a significant impact on changes in the estimated fair value of the embedded featured within the 2020 Notes. For example, the estimated fair value will generally decrease with: (1) a decline in the stock price; (2) decreases in the estimated stock volatility; and (3) a decrease in the estimated credit spread.

2022 Notes Embedded Derivative

In *July 2012*, the Company issued 7.5% convertible senior notes due *July 2022* (the "2022 Notes") which contain the following embedded derivatives: (i) rights to convert into shares of the Company's common stock, including upon a Fundamental Change (as defined in the indenture governing the 2022 Notes (the "2022 Notes Indenture")); and (ii) a Coupon Make-Whole Payment (as defined in the 2022 Notes Indenture) in the event of a conversion by the holders of the 2022 Notes prior to *July 1, 2017*.

The Company had concluded that the embedded derivatives within the 2020 Notes required separation from the host instrument and was re-valued each reporting period, with changes in the fair value of the embedded derivative recognized as a component of the Company's consolidated Statements of Operations. As of *December 31, 2017*, the fair value of the 2020 Notes embedded derivative was zero. In *January 2018*, the Company entered into a private exchange agreement with a holder of the 2022 Notes to exchange the remaining \$0.5 million of outstanding principal amount of the 2022 Notes for 39,016 shares of common stock. Upon completion of this exchange, the 2022 Notes were satisfied in their entirety and there are *no* remaining obligations under the 2022 Notes, including any remaining obligations under the 2022 Notes embedded derivative.

GEVO, INC.

Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements

(unaudited)

Derivative Warrant Liability

The following warrants were sold by the Company:

In *December 2013*, the Company sold warrants to purchase *3,551* shares of the Company's common stock (the "2013 Warrants").

In *August 2014*, the Company sold warrants to purchase *2,500* shares of the Company's common stock (the "2014 Warrants").

In *February 2015*, the Company sold Series A warrants to purchase *5,542* shares of the Company's common stock (the "Series A Warrants") and Series B warrants to purchase *5,542* shares of the Company's common stock (the "Series B Warrants").

In *May 2015*, the Company sold Series C warrants to purchase *1,075* shares of the Company's common stock (the "Series C Warrants").

In *December 2015*, the Company sold Series D warrants to purchase 25,125 shares of the Company's common stock (the "Series D Warrants") and Series E warrants to purchase 20,000 shares of the Company's common stock (the "Series E Warrants").

In *April 2016*, the Company sold Series F warrants to purchase *25,733* shares of the Company's common stock (the "Series F Warrants") and Series H warrants to purchase *51,465* shares of the Company's common stock (the "Series H Warrants"), and pre-funded Series G warrants (the "Series G Warrants") to purchase *16,429* shares of the Company's common stock, pursuant to an underwritten public offering.

In *September 2016*, the Company sold Series I warrants to purchase 35,650 shares of the Company's common stock (the "Series I Warrant") and pre-funded Series J warrants ("Series J Warrants") to purchase 9,250 shares of the Company's common stock, pursuant to an underwritten public offering.

In *February 2017*, the Company sold Series K warrants to purchase *312,516* shares of the Company's common stock (the "Series K Warrants") and Series M warrants to purchase *312,500* shares of the Company's common stock (the "Series M Warrants"), and pre-funded Series L warrants (the "Series L Warrants") to purchase *28,500* shares of the Company's common stock, pursuant to an underwritten public offering.

GEVO, INC.

Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements

(unaudited)

The following table sets forth information pertaining to shares issued upon the exercise of such warrants as of September 30, 2018:

						Shares	Shares
			Exercise		Shares	Issued	Underlying
	Issuance	Expiration	Price as of		Underlying	upon Warrant	Warrants
	Date	Date	September 30,		Warrants on	Exercises	Outstanding as of
			2018		Issuance Date	as of September 30, 2018	September 30,
							2018 (4)
2013 Warrants	12/16/2013	12/16/2018	\$ 85.05		3,551	762	2,789
2014 Warrants	08/05/2014	08/05/2019	\$ 65.50		2,500	1,526	974
Series A Warrants	02/03/2015	02/03/2020	\$ 3.80		5,542	5,222	320
Series B Warrants	02/03/2015	08/03/2015	-	(1)	5,542	5,542	-
Series C Warrants	05/19/2015	05/19/2020	\$ <i>53.43</i>		1,075	-	1,075
Series D Warrants	12/11/2015	12/11/2020	\$ 40.00		25,125	25,078	47
Series E Warrants	12/11/2015	12/11/2020	-	(1)	20,000	20,000	-
Series F Warrants	04/01/2016	04/01/2021	\$ 40.00		25,733	11,692	14,041
Series G Warrants	04/01/2016	04/01/2017	-	(1)	16,429	16,429	-
Series H Warrants	04/01/2016	10/01/2016	-	(1)	51,465	51,465	-
Series I Warrants	09/13/2016	09/13/2021	\$ 220.00		35,650	-	35,650
Series J Warrants	09/13/2016	09/13/2017	-	(1)	9,250	9,250	-
Series K Warrants	02/17/2017	2/17/2022	\$ 3.80		312,516	308,510	4,006
Series L Warrants	02/17/2017	02/17/2018	-	(1)	28,500	28,500	-
Series M-A Warrants	02/17/2017	11/17/2017	-	(1), (2)	115,250	74,250	-
Series M-B Warrants	02/17/2017	11/17/2017	-	(1), (3)	197,250	197,250	-
					855,378	755,476	58,902

(1) Warrants have either been fully exercised and/or expired as of September 30, 2018.

(2)

In October 2017, the exercise price of Series M warrants to purchase 74,250 shares of common stock were repriced between \$12.00 and \$13.00 per share. Of those warrants that were repriced, all were exercised in the *fourth* quarter of 2017, providing proceeds of \$1.0 million.

- In *September 2017, the exercise price of* Series M warrants to purchase 197,250 shares of common stock were (3) repriced to \$12.00 per share. Of those warrants that were repriced, all were exercised in the *second* half of 2017, providing proceeds of \$2.4 million.
- (4) This table does *not* include equity-classified warrants to purchase 6 shares of common stock issued in 2011, with strike price of \$354 per share.

The agreements governing the above warrants include the following terms:

certain warrants have exercise prices which are subject to adjustment for certain events, including the issuance of stock dividends on the Company's common stock and, in certain instances, the issuance of the Company's common stock or instruments convertible into the Company's common stock at a price per share less than the exercise price of the respective warrants;

warrant holders *may* exercise the warrants through a cashless exercise if, and only if, the Company does *not* have an effective registration statement then available for the issuance of the shares of its common stock. If an effective registration statement is available for the issuance of its common stock a holder *may* only exercise the warrants through a cash exercise;

the exercise price and the number and type of securities purchasable upon exercise of the warrants are subject to adjustment upon certain corporate events, including certain combinations, consolidations, liquidations, mergers, recapitalizations, reclassifications, reorganizations, stock dividends and stock splits, a sale of all or substantially all of the Company's assets and certain other events; and

GEVO, INC.

Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements

(unaudited)

in the event of an "extraordinary transaction" or a "fundamental transaction" (as such terms are defined in the respective warrant agreements), generally including any merger with or into another entity, sale of all or substantially all of the Company's assets, tender offer or exchange offer, or reclassification of its common stock, in which the successor entity (as defined in the respective warrant agreements) that assumes the successor entity is *not* a publicly traded company, the Company or any successor entity will pay the warrant holder, at such holder's option, exercisable at any time concurrently with or within *30* days after the consummation of the extraordinary transaction or fundamental transaction, an amount of cash equal to the value of such holder's warrants as determined in accordance with the Black Scholes option pricing model and the terms of the respective warrant agreement. In some circumstances, the Company or successor entity *may* be obligated to make such payments regardless of whether the successor entity that assumes the warrants is a publicly traded company.

During the three months ended September 30, 2018, no warrants were exercised.

As of September 30, 2018, all of the Series B, E, G, H, J, L and M Warrants for which the exercise price had been adjusted were fully exercised or expired.

8. Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities

The following table sets forth the components of the Company's accounts payable and accrued liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets (in thousands).

	September 30, 2018	December 31, 2017
Accounts payable - trade	\$ 1,806	\$ 666
Accrued legal-related fees	93	274
Accrued employee compensation	1,173	700
Accrued interest	341	434
Accrued production fees	444	447
Accrued utilities and supplies payable	376	677

Accrued taxes payable	174	172
Customer deposit	-	436
Other accrued liabilities *	401	205
Total accounts payable and accrued liabilities	\$ 4,808	\$ 4,011

*Other accrued liabilities consist of franchise taxes, audit fees, and a variety of other expenses, *none* of which individually represent greater than *five* percent of total current liabilities.

GEVO, INC.

Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements

(unaudited)

9. Debt

2020 Notes

The following table sets forth information pertaining to the 2020 Notes which is included in the Company's consolidated balance sheets (in thousands).

						Total 2020
	Principal		Debt	Total	2020 Notes	Notes and
	Amount	Debt	Issue	2020	110005	2020
	of 2020	Discount	Costs	Notes	Embedded	Notes
	Notes		COSIS	TORS	Derivative	Embedded
						Derivative
Balance - December 31, 2017	\$ 16,657	\$(2,501)	\$(665)	\$13,491	\$ 5,224	\$ 18,715
Amortization of debt discount	-	831	-	831	-	831
Amortization of debt issue costs	-	-	242	242	-	242
Paid-in-kind interest	235	-	-	235	-	235
Change in fair value of 2020 Notes embedded derivative	-	-	-	-	(2,340)	(2,340)
Conversion of 2020 Notes into common stock Balance - September 30, 2018	(3,186) \$13,706	428 \$(1,242)	114) \$ <i>(309)</i>	(2,644) \$ <i>12,155</i>		(4,837) \$ 12,846

On *April 19, 2017*, the Company entered into an Exchange and Purchase Agreement (the "Purchase Agreement") with WB Gevo, LTD, the holder of the 2017 Notes (the "Holder") and Whitebox Advisors LLC, in its capacity as representative of the Holder ("Whitebox"). The 2020 Notes were issued under that certain Indenture dated as of *June 6, 2014*, by and among the Company, the guarantors party thereto, and Wilmington Savings Fund Society, FSB, as trustee and as collateral trustee (as supplemented, the "2017 Notes Indenture"), and Whitebox. Pursuant to the terms of

the Purchase Agreement, the Holder, subject to certain conditions, including approval of the transaction by the Company's stockholders (which was received on *June 15, 2017*), agreed to exchange all of the outstanding principal amount of the *2017* Notes for an equal principal amount of the *2020* Notes, plus an amount in cash equal to the accrued and unpaid interest (other than interest paid in kind) on the *2017* Notes (the "Exchange"). Pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, the Company also granted the Holder an option (the "Purchase Option") to purchase up to an additional aggregate principal amount of *\$5.0* million of *2020* Notes (the "Option Notes"), at a purchase price equal to the asgregate principal amount of such Option Notes purchased, having identical terms (other than with respect to the issue date and restrictions on transfer relating to compliance with applicable securities law) to the *2020* Notes issued, at any time on or within *ninety* (*90*) days of the closing of the Exchange. The right to purchase Option Notes expired in the *third* quarter of *2017* Notes. The Company completed the Exchange, terminated the *2017* Notes Indenture and cancelled the *2017* Notes. The Company recognized an *\$3.9* million loss which has been recorded as loss on exchange or conversion of debt within the consolidated statements of operations.

The 2020 Notes will mature on *March 15, 2020*. The 2020 Notes bear interest at a rate equal to 12% per annum (with 2% potentially payable as PIK Interest (as defined and described below) at the Company's option), payable on *March 31, June 30, September 30,* and *December 31* of each year. Under certain circumstances, the Company has the option to pay a portion of the interest due on the 2020 Notes by either (a) increasing the principal amount of the 2020 Notes by the amount of interest then due or (b) issuing additional 2020 Notes with a principal amount equal to the amount of interest then due (interest paid in the manner set forth in (a) or (b) being referred to as "PIK Interest"). In the event the Company pays any portion of the interest due on the 2020 Notes as PIK Interest, the maximum aggregate principal amount of 2020 Notes that could be convertible into shares of the Company's common stock will be increased. Additional shares of the Company is required to make certain make-whole payments as provided in the 2020 Notes Indenture.

The 2020 Notes are convertible into shares of the Company's common stock, subject to certain terms and conditions. The initial conversion price of the 2020 Notes is equal to \$14.72 per share of common stock, or .06795 shares of common stock per \$1 principal amount of 2020 Notes (the "Conversion Price"). In addition, upon certain equity financing transactions by the Company, the Holders will have a *one*-time right to reset the Conversion Price (the "Reset Provision") (i) in the *first ninety* (90) days following the Exchange Date, at a 25% premium to the common stock price in the equity financing and (ii) after *ninety* (90) and to and including *one hundred eighty* (180) days following the closing of the Exchange, at a 35% premium to the common stock share price in the equity financing. Following an exercise of the Reset Provision, the Holders will also have a right to consent to certain equity financings by the Company during the *one hundred eighty* (180) days following the closing of the Exchange.

Each Holder has agreed *not* to convert its 2020 Notes into shares of Company common stock to the extent that, after giving effect to such conversion, the number of shares of common stock beneficially owned by such Holder and its affiliates would exceed 4.99% of Company common stock outstanding at the time of such conversion (the "4.99% Ownership Limitation"); provided that a Holder *may*, at its option and upon *sixty-one* (61) days' prior notice to the Company, increase such threshold to 9.99% (the "9.99% Ownership Limitation"). If a conversion of 2020 Notes by Whitebox would exceed the 4.99% Ownership Limitation or the 9.99% Ownership Limitation, as applicable, the Purchase Agreement contains a provision granting the holder a fully funded prepaid warrant for such common stock with a term of *nine* months, subject to a six month extension, which it can draw down from time to time.

GEVO, INC.

Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements

(unaudited)

Other than as set forth in the Reset Provision, the 2020 Notes do *not* contain any anti-dilution adjustments for future equity issuances that are below the Conversion Price, and adjustments to the Conversion Price will only generally be made in the event that there is a dividend or distribution paid on shares of the Company's common stock, a subdivision, combination or reclassification of the Company's common stock, or at the discretion of the Board of Directors of the Company in limited circumstances and subject to certain conditions.

Under certain circumstances, the Company *may* file *one* or more registration statements on Form S-3 or amend filings in order to register shares of common stock for sale or resale, as necessary in connection with the 2020 Notes.

During the nine months ended September 30, 2018, an aggregate of 260,793 shares of common stock were issued to the holder of the 2020 Notes upon the conversion of an aggregate of approximately \$3.2 million in outstanding principal and \$0.7 million in "make-whole" interest.

2022 Notes

The following table sets forth information pertaining to the 2022 Notes which is included in the Company's consolidated balance sheets (in thousands).

Principal

Amount

of 2022

Notes

Balance - December 31, 2017 \$ 515

Exchange of 2022 Notes
(515)

Balance - September 30, 2018\$ -

In *July 2012*, the Company sold \$45.0 million in aggregate principal amount of 2022 Notes, for net proceeds of \$40.9 million, after accounting for \$2.7 million and \$1.4 million of discounts and issue costs, respectively. The 2022 Notes bear interest at 7.5% per annum, which is to be paid semi-annually in arrears on *January 1* and *July 1* of each year. The 2022 Notes were to mature on *July 1, 2022*, unless earlier repurchased, redeemed or converted. During the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, the Company recorded:

\$0.0 million and \$0.08 million, respectively, of expense related to the amortization of debt discounts and issue costs, \$0.02 million and \$1.2 million, respectively, of expense related to the exchange of debt, \$0.0 million and \$0.02 million, respectively, of interest expense related to the 2022 Notes.

The amortization of debt issue costs, debt discounts and cash interest are included as a component of interest expense in the consolidated statements of operations. The Company amortized debt discounts and debt issue costs associated with the 2022 Notes using an effective interest rate of 40% from the issuance date through July 1, 2017, a *five*-year period, which represents the date the holders can require the Company to repurchase the 2022 Notes.

In *January 2018*, the Company entered into a private exchange agreement with a holder of the *2022* Notes to exchange the remaining \$0.5 million of outstanding principal amount of the *2022* Notes for 39,016 shares of common stock. Upon completion of this exchange, the *2022* Notes were satisfied in their entirety and there are *no* remaining obligations under the *2022* Notes.

10. Stock-Based Compensation

The Company records stock-based compensation expense during the requisite service period for share-based payment awards granted to employees and non-employees.

The following table sets forth the Company's stock-based compensation expense (in thousands) for the periods indicated.

	Three Months Ended September 30,		Nine Montl Endec Septer 30,	1
	2018	2017	2018	2017
Stock options and employee stock purchase plan awards Research and development Selling, general and administrative	\$3 7	\$ 9 30	\$21 48	\$28 91
Restricted stock awards Research and development Selling, general and administrative	- -	- -	- -	12 17
Restricted stock units Research and development Selling, general and administrative	23 136	18 41	57 194	53 122
Stock appreciation rights Research and development Selling, general and administrative Total stock-based compensation	- 112 \$281	- - \$ 98	- 198 \$518	- - \$ <i>323</i>

11. Commitments and Contingencies

Legal Matters. From time to time, the Company has been and *may* again become involved in legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of its business. The Company is *not* presently a party to any litigation that it believes to be material and is *not* aware of any pending or threatened litigation against the Company that it believes could have a material adverse effect on its business, operating results, financial condition or cash flows.

Leases. During the year ended *December 31, 2012,* the Company entered into a *six*-year software license agreement. The Company concluded that the software license agreement qualified as a capital lease. The last payment obligation was satisfied May 2017. Accordingly, at September 30, 2018 and *December 31, 2017,* there were *no* capital lease obligations outstanding.

The Company has an operating lease for its office, research, and production facility in Englewood, Colorado with a term expiring in *July 2021*. The Company also maintains a corporate apartment in Colorado, which has a lease term expiring during the next *12* months. The Company has an operating lease for the rail cars used by Agri-Energy in Luverne, Minnesota.

Rent expense was \$0.4 million and \$0.4 million for the three months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively, and \$1.3 million and \$1.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively

The table below shows the future minimum payments under non-cancelable operating leases and at September 30, 2018 (in thousands):

Operating

	Leases
2018 (remaining)	\$ 400
2019	969
2020	430
2021	218
2022 and thereafter	-
Total	\$ 2,017

GEVO, INC.

Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements

(unaudited)

On July 27, 2018, the Company entered into an Equipment Operating Lease and Services Agreement with Shockwave, LLC ("Shockwave") for one DGS Drying Machine (the "Dryer Agreement"). Pursuant to the terms of the Dryer Agreement, the Company is obligated to pay Shockwave \$1.0 million in forty-eight equal monthly payments following the installation of the DGS Drying Machine. Also on July 27, 2018, the Company entered into an Equipment Operating Lease and Services Agreement with Shockwave for one Corn Fractionation Machine ("the Corn Fractionation Agreement"). Pursuant to the terms of the Corn Fractionation Agreement"). Pursuant to the terms of the Corn Fractionation Agreement". Pursuant to the terms of the Corn Fractionation Agreement, the Company is obligated to pay Shockwave \$2.5 million in forty-eight equal monthly payments following the date the Corn Fractionation Machine is put into operation. The equipment is not yet operational as of September 30,2018.

Indemnifications. In the ordinary course of its business, the Company makes certain indemnities under which it *may* be required to make payments in relation to certain transactions. As of September 30, 2018 and *December 31, 2017*, the Company did *not* have any liabilities associated with indemnities.

Certain of the Company's financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, and accounts payable, for which the carrying value on the Company's balance sheet approximates their fair values due to the short maturities.

In addition, the Company, as permitted under Delaware law and in accordance with its amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws, indemnifies its officers and directors for certain events or occurrences, subject to certain limits, while the officer or director is or was serving at the Company's request in such capacity. The duration of these indemnifications, commitments, and guarantees varies and, in certain cases, is indefinite. The maximum amount of potential future indemnification is unlimited; however, the Company has a director and officer insurance policy that *may* enable it to recover a portion of any future amounts paid. The Company accrues for losses for any known contingent liability, including those that *may* arise from indemnification provisions, when future payment is probable. *No* such losses have been recorded to date.

Environmental Liabilities. The Company's operations are subject to environmental laws and regulations adopted by various governmental authorities in the jurisdictions in which it operates. These laws require the Company to investigate and remediate the effects of the release or disposal of materials at its locations. Accordingly, the Company has adopted policies, practices and procedures in the areas of pollution control, occupational health and the production, handling, storage and use of hazardous materials to prevent material environmental or other damage, and to limit the financial liability which could result from such events. Environmental liabilities are recorded when the

Company's liability is probable and the costs can be reasonably estimated. *No* environmental liabilities have been recorded as of September 30, 2018 or *December 31, 2017*.

12. Fair Value Measurements

Accounting standards define fair value, outline a framework for measuring fair value, and detail the required disclosures about fair value measurements. Under these standards, fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date in the principal or most advantageous market. Standards establish a hierarchy in determining the fair market value of an asset or liability. The fair value hierarchy has *three* levels of inputs, both observable and unobservable. Standards require the utilization of the highest possible level of input to determine fair value.

Level 1 – inputs include quoted market prices in an active market for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 – inputs are market data, other than Level 1, that are observable either directly or indirectly. Level 2 inputs include quoted market prices for similar assets or liabilities, quoted market prices in an active market, and other observable information that can be corroborated by market data.

Level 3 – inputs are unobservable and corroborated by little or no market data.

22

GEVO, INC.

Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements

(unaudited)

These tables present the carrying value and fair value, by fair value hierarchy, of the Company's financial instruments, excluding cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and accounts payable at September 30, 2018 and *December 31, 2017*, respectively (in thousands).

		Fair Value Measurements at September 30, 2018		
		(in thousands) Quoted Prices in		
	Fair Value at	Significant Activ O ther	Significant Unobservable	
	September	Markets for Observable Inputs		
	30, 2018		Inputs (Level 3)	
		(Level 1)		
Recurring: Derivative Warrant Liability 2020 Embedded Derivative Liability Total Recurring Fair Value Measurements	\$ 81 691 \$ 772	\$- \$- \$- \$-	\$ 81 691 \$ 772	
Nonrecurring Corn and finished goods inventory Total Non-Recurring Fair Value Measurements	\$ 1,481 \$ 1,481	\$ <i>84</i> \$ <i>1,397</i> \$84 \$ 1,397	\$ - \$ -	
		Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2017		
	Fair Value at	(in thousands) QuotedSignificant Prices Other	Significant	

	December 31, 2017	Activ	Inputs	nobservable nputs (Level
		Ident Asset		
		(Leve 1)	1	
Recurring:				
Derivative Warrant Liability	\$ 1,951	\$-	\$ -	\$ 1,951
2020 Notes Embedded Derivative Liability	5,224	_	- \$ -	5,224
Total Recurring Fair Value Measurements	\$ 7,175	\$-	\$ -	\$ 7,175
Nonrecurring				
			\$ 1,727	-
Total Non-Recurring Fair Value Measurements	\$ 1,916	\$189	\$ 1,727	\$ _

GEVO, INC.

Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements

(unaudited)

The following table provides changes to those fair value measurements using Level 3 inputs for the nine months ended September 30, 2018.

	Fair Value Measurements Using Significant Unobservable Inputs			
	(Level 3) thousand			
		2020 Notes Embedded		
	Liability	Derivative		
Opening Balance	\$1,951	\$ 5,224		
Transfers into Level 3	_	_		
Transfers out of Level 3	_	_		
Total (gains) or losses for the period				
Included in earnings	3,035	(2,340)	
Included in other comprehensive income	_	_		
Purchases, issues, sales and settlements				
Purchases	_	_		
Issues	_	_		
Sales	_	_		
Settlements	(4,905)	(2,193)	
Closing balance	\$81	\$ 691		

Inventories. The Company records its corn inventory at fair value only when the Company's cost of corn purchased exceeds the market value for corn. The Company determines the market value of corn and dry distiller's grain based upon Level *1* inputs using quoted market prices. The Company records its ethanol, isobutanol and hydrocarbon inventory at market using Level 2 inputs.

2020 Notes Embedded Derivative. The Company had estimated the fair value of the embedded derivative on a stand-alone basis to be \$0.7 million at September 30, 2018 and \$5.2 million at December 31, 2017 based upon Level

3 inputs. Changes in the fair value of the embedded derivative is recognized each reporting period as a "*Change in fair value of 2020 Notes embedded derivative*" in the consolidated Statements of Operations and Statements of Cash Flows. See Note *6*, Embedded Derivatives and Derivative Warrant Liabilities, for the fair value inputs used to estimate the fair value of the embedded derivative.

Derivative Warrant Liability. The Company values the Series K Warrants using a Monte-Carlo model (Level III), and all others using a Black-Scholes model, which have historically included additional inputs (Level III). The Company has estimated the fair value of the derivative warrant liability to be *\$0.1* million as of September 30, 2018. Changes in the fair value of the derivative warrant liability is recognized each reporting period as a "*Change in fair value of derivative warrant liability*" in the consolidated Statements of Operations and Statements of Cash Flows.

While the Company believes that its valuation methods are appropriate and consistent with other market participants, it recognizes that the use of different methodologies or assumptions to determine the fair value of certain financial instruments could result in a different estimate of fair value at the reporting date.

13. Segments

The Company has determined that it has *two* operating segments: (i) Gevo segment; and (ii) Gevo Development/Agri-Energy segment. The Company organizes its business segments based on the nature of the products and services offered through each of the Company's consolidated legal entities. Transactions between segments are eliminated in consolidation.

Gevo Segment. The Gevo segment is responsible for all research and development activities related to the future production of isobutanol, including the development of the Company's proprietary biocatalysts, the production and sale of biojet fuel, the Company's retrofit process and the next generation of chemicals and biofuels that will be based on the Company's isobutanol technology. The Gevo segment also develops, maintains and protects the Company's intellectual property portfolio, develops future markets for the Company's isobutanol and provides corporate oversight services.

GEVO, INC.

Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements

(unaudited)

Gevo Development/Agri-Energy Segment. The Gevo Development/Agri-Energy segment is currently responsible for the operation of the Company's Luverne Facility and the production of ethanol, isobutanol and related products.

The tables below present revenues, loss from operations, interest expense, depreciation expense and acquisitions of plant, property and equipment by segment, in thousands.

	Three Months Ended September 30, 2018 2017		Nine Mon Ended Sej 30, 2018	
Revenues: Gevo Gevo Development / Agri-Energy	\$504	\$279 7,420	\$1,136 25,102	\$1,028 19,828
Consolidated	\$8,575	\$7,699	\$26,238	\$20,856
Loss from operations: Gevo Gevo Development / Agri-Energy Consolidated	(2,733)	(2,552)	(7,320)	\$(8,718) (9,756) \$(18,474)
Interest expense: Gevo Gevo Development / Agri-Energy Consolidated	\$767 - \$767	\$811 - \$811	\$2,496	\$2,152
Depreciation expense: Gevo Gevo Development / Agri-Energy Consolidated	\$767 \$54 1,564 \$1,618	\$111	\$2,496 \$214 4,689 \$4,903	\$2,152 \$375 4,619 \$4,994
Acquisitions of plant, property and equipment: Gevo Gevo Development / Agri-Energy Consolidated	\$14 1,207 \$1,221	\$2 324 \$326	\$16 1,328 \$1,344	\$111 1,206 \$1,317

	September 30, 2018	December 31, 2017
Total assets (in thousands):		
Gevo	\$109,811	\$87,507
Gevo Development / Agri-Energy	141,421	149,758
Intercompany eliminations	(139,866)	(148,412)
Consolidated	\$111,366	\$88,853

14. Subsequent Events

None noted except for those events described in Note 1 to the unaudited consolidated financial statements for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018.

Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

Forward-Looking Statements

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (this "Report") contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"). When used anywhere in this Report, the words "expect," "believe," "anticipate," "estimate," "intend," " and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements. These statements relate to future events or our future financial or operational performance and involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other important factors that may cause our actual results, levels of activity, performance or achievements to differ materially from those expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements may include, but are not limited to, risks and uncertainties related to our ability to successfully implement our "low-carbon" fuel strategy, our ability to sell our products, our ability to expand or continue production of ethanol and isobutanol at our Luverne Facility (as defined below), our ability to meet our production, financial and operational guidance, our ability and plans to construct a large-scale commercial hydrocarbon facility to produce renewable alcohol-to-jet fuel ("ATJ") and isooctane, our ability to raise additional funds to continue operations and/or expand the Luverne Facility, our ability to produce ethanol and isobutanol on a commercial level and at a profit, achievement of advances in our technology platform, the success of our retrofit production model, commodity prices, the availability of suitable and cost-competitive feedstocks, our ability to gain market acceptance for our products, the expected cost-competitiveness and relative performance attributes of our ethanol and isobutanol and the products derived from ethanol and isobutanol, additional competition and changes in economic conditions, the future price and volatility of petroleum and products derived from petroleum, and those risks described in documents we have filed with the U.S. Securities Exchange Commission (the "SEC"), including this Report in "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" and "Risk Factors," our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2017 (our "Annual Report"), and other reports that we have filed with the SEC. All forward-looking statements in this Report are qualified entirely by the cautionary statements included in this Report and such other filings. These risks and uncertainties could cause actual results to differ materially from results expressed or implied by forward-looking statements contained in this Report. These forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this Report. We disclaim any undertaking to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements contained herein to reflect any change in our expectations with regard thereto or any change in events, conditions or circumstances on which any such statement is based.

Unless the context requires otherwise, in this Report the terms "we," "us," "our" and the "Company" refer to Gevo, Inc. and its subsidiaries.

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with our unaudited consolidated financial statements and the related notes and other financial information appearing elsewhere in this Report. Readers are also urged to carefully review and consider the various disclosures made by us which attempt to advise interested parties of the factors which affect our business, including, without limitation, the disclosures in our Annual Report.

Reverse Stock Split

On June 1, 2018, we effected a reverse stock split of the outstanding shares of our common stock by a ratio of one-for-twenty (the "Reverse Stock Split") and our common stock began trading on the Nasdaq Capital Market on a Reverse Stock Split-basis on June 4, 2018. Unless otherwise indicated, all share amounts, per share data, share prices, exercise prices and conversion rates set forth herein have, where applicable, been adjusted retroactively to reflect the Reverse Stock Split.

Company Overview

We are a next generation "low-carbon" fuel company focused on the development and commercialization of renewable alternatives to petroleum-based products. Low-carbon fuels reduce the carbon intensity, or the level of greenhouse gas emissions, compared to standard fossil-based fuels across their lifecycle. The most common low-carbon fuels are renewable fuels. We are focused on the development and production of mainstream fuels like gasoline and jet fuel using renewable feedstocks, that have the potential to lower greenhouse gas emissions at a meaningful scale and enhance agricultural production, including food and other related products. In addition to serving the low-carbon fuel markets, through our technology, we can also serve markets for the production of chemical intermediate products for solvents, plastics, and building block chemicals.

Our proven production technologies target what we believe to be large potential markets of renewable fuels and related chemicals that can compete directly against petrochemical products depending on the price of oil and the value of carbon intensity. Renewable fuels are one of the few fuel products where the value for renewable carbon has already been established, particularly in the United States and the European Union. We believe that the demand for low-carbon fuels and renewable chemicals will continue to grow in the future.

Decarbonization

We believe that we have the technology and production platform to produce renewable fuels that reduce the emission of additional greenhouse gases into the atmosphere as compared to the burning of fossil-based carbon fuels, and to do so profitably. Low-carbon fuels can best be produced by (i) replacing fossil-based carbon with renewable carbon, and (ii) replacing some or most of the fossil-based energy sources needed for heat and electricity during the fuel production process. Renewable carbon comes from growing plants and crops. Growing plants efficiently provides the opportunity to capture carbon in the soil and generate protein, further lowering the carbon intensity of fuels produced from these renewable feedstocks. Eliminating or reducing fossil-based carbon is referred to as "decarbonization," and the products resulting from such a decarbonization process are rewarded with a lower carbon intensity ("C.I.") score, which increases the market value of certain products. In addition to the U.S. Renewable Fuel Standard policy (RFS) that rewards low-carbon fuels, certain markets in North America such as California, Oregon, Washington and Canada and countries such as Japan, China, India, and other Asian countries are ascribing extra economic value on decarbonization. In Europe, the European Parliament has adopted the Renewable Energy Directive to promote the use of energy from renewable sources. An amendment to the Renewable Energy Directive (REDII) covering the period 2020-2030 is expected to be approved by the European Parliament in 2018. We believe that decarbonization is an emerging market opportunity, and that we have the technologies, products and a base production facility to take advantage of this opportunity.

The State of California is a leader in the push for decarbonization with its Low Carbon Fuel Standard (LCFS), which is a market-based cap and trade approach to lowering the greenhouse gas emissions from petroleum-based transportation fuels. We believe that the LCFS approach to reducing greenhouse gases will be implemented by Canada and other states in the United States (Oregon and Washington, as examples) and eventually could be implemented at the Federal level, which should create more demand for low-carbon fuel products. The demand and value for low-carbon fuel products in California has sharpened our focus on low C.I. ethanol. Our current production plant is small enough and specialized enough so that, with certain process optimizations, we could reduce our demand for fossil-based energy required in the production process. By doing this, we would increase the value of our ethanol because it would carry a lower C.I. score, which should translate into increased revenues for us as a result of the credits associated with our renewable fuels under LCFS and/or RFS. . Certain improvements we make to produce low-carbon ethanol, are also expected to benefit any other low-carbon products we produce, such as our renewable isobutanol, jet fuel and isooctane (gasoline).

Low-Carbon Ethanol Opportunity

Our specialty production facility in Luverne, Minnesota (the "Luverne Facility") has an annual production capacity of approximately 20 million gallons per year ("MGPY") of ethanol, 45-50 kilotons of animal feed, and 3 million pounds of corn oil.

The Luverne Facility has the capability, with certain capital improvements, to produce low-carbon ethanol side-by-side with low-carbon isobutanol, in addition to renewable jet fuel and isooctane and other related products that can be made from isobutanol. By focusing on low-carbon ethanol in the near term, debottlenecking production, while adapting and optimizing the Luverne Facility's energy and equipment infrastructure to reduce the reliance on fossil-based energy sources, we believe that by approximately the end of 2021 we can increase revenues to make the Luverne Facility profitable on a non-GAAP Cash EBITDA basis. Non-GAAP Cash EBITDA is a non-GAAP financial measure and is calculated by adding depreciation and non-cash stock compensation to GAAP loss/income from operations. See "Non-GAAP Financial Information" below for additional information regarding non-GAAP Cash EBITDA.

In addition, by undertaking further capital investments to improve our Luverne Facility, we believe we may be able to generate sufficient profits at the Luverne Facility to make the Company profitable on a consolidated non-GAAP Cash EBITDA basis, independent from the production and sales of isobutanol, jet fuel, isooctane and related technologies. Such capital investments could include: (i) improvements at the Luverne Facility to further lower the C.I. score of our fuel products; and (ii) installing fractionation technologies at the Luverne Facility to produce value added protein feed products, food grade corn oil, as well products using the fiber fraction of corn. Concurrently, while focusing on low-carbon ethanol, we plan on expanding hydrocarbon production either at our hydrocarbons demonstration plant located at South Hampton Resources located in Silsbee, Texas (the "Silsbee Facility") or, subject to securing adequate financing, by constructing a new larger production facility at the Luverne Facility for specialty hydrocarbon fuels, which may add additional positive cash flow on a non-GAAP Cash EBITDA basis.

The future improvements that we are planning for the Luverne Facility will lower the carbon intensity of the Luverne Facility and should benefit both ethanol and isobutanol production. The smaller size of our Luverne Facility compared to other ethanol production facilities means that the Luverne Facility offers opportunities to lower carbon intensity that other larger scale plants might not possess. For example, we could install small cogeneration units or make certain changes to unit operations to improve water removal efficiency given the lower power demands for steam and electricity which would result in lower ongoing capital expenditures. We believe that smaller, specialized biofuel production facilities aimed at low-carbon specialty fuels, related specialty protein products, and food oils, will have an advantage over large scale ethanol plants that, out of necessity, have to focus on commodity products for industrial markets. In other words, as these low C.I. markets further develop, tracking carbon lifecycles will be important. Tracking carbon means knowing the supply of feedstock and how it is grown. We believe a smaller production facility like our Luverne Facility will be well positioned to source responsibly grown feedstocks.

Low-Carbon Renewable Isobutanol, Jet Fuel, Gasoline and Related Products

We believe that renewable isobutanol is a potentially valuable commercial product because of its versatility to address large markets either as a product directly or as a key intermediate for producing renewable carbon alternatives to mainstream fuels such as jet fuel, gasoline, plastics such as polyethylene terephthalate ("PET"), and various other chemical products and materials. Isobutanol is a four-carbon alcohol that can be sold directly for use as a specialty chemical in the production of solvents, paints and coatings, or more importantly from a market size and performance value-added point of view, as a gasoline blendstock. Because isobutanol can be readily converted to hydrocarbon products such hydrocarbon fuels, including isooctane, isooctene and ATJ, lubricants, polyester, rubber, plastics, fibers and other polymers, we believe that the addressable markets are large, potentially being able to reach 40% of the

global petrochemicals markets depending on the price of oil and the market value of renewable carbon.

We also have proven that our renewable isobutanol can be readily converted to hydrocarbon products that address large markets, such as jet fuel and isooctane. Specifically, our renewable ATJ has been certified for use in commercial aviation and used multiple times for commercial flights.

Our renewable isobutanol is being used as a gasoline blendstock in the Houston area for on-road vehicles as an ethanol-free fuel option for consumers and off-road uses in vehicles, boats and small engines.

Our renewable isooctane meets the performance and specification requirements for use in fuels and related chemicals. It is currently being used in the European Union as a fuel for Formula One race cars, as well as other applications. As a result of the commercial traction that we have already achieved, we believe that there is large potential to grow our business, through a combination of (i) directly producing and selling our renewable isobutanol and related hydrocarbon products and (ii) licensing our technology.

Our Strategy

Our strategy to grow our business is to become profitable by investing capital to upgrade the Luverne Facility to primarily produce low-carbon ethanol for the California market. We plan to use low-carbon ethanol to achieve positive cash flows, which should provide us the time to execute on our ultimate business goal of producing and selling into the isobutanol and its derivative hydrocarbon product markets such as ATJ and isooctane. Key elements of our strategy include:

Undertake process improvements to lower energy consumption and implement lower-carbon process energy options at the Luverne Facility. By investing additional capital at the Luverne Facility, we believe that we can lower the carbon intensity (i.e. lower the carbon dioxide emissions from the plant) creating additional profit margin opportunities in low-carbon markets such as California under LCFS and in Europe under RED for our ethanol, as well as for our isobutanol and derivative hydrocarbon products produced from isobutanol.

Implement fractionation technology at the Luverne Facility. We have chosen an innovative corn fractionation technology to deploy at the Luverne Facility in order to generate additional revenue from incremental volumes of alcohol, distiller grains and corn oil, as well as generate new revenue opportunities from the production and sale of corn fiber-based feed products.

Expand hydrocarbon production at the Silsbee Facility. Along with our production partner, South Hampton Resources, we plan to expand and reconfigure the Silsbee Facility in order to generate greater revenues and better profit margins, while enabling customers to further develop markets for ATJ and isooctane which will help us transition these customers to long-term off-take agreements for greater volumes of products.

Enter into supply agreements for isobutanol and its derivative hydrocarbon products with customers to support capacity growth using project financing or other less expensive and less dilutive forms of capital. We intend to build on our existing customer contracts, such as our isooctane supply agreements with HCS Holding GmbH, to obtain additional binding off-take agreements that would economically support converting the Luverne Facility primarily to the production of isobutanol and its derivative hydrocarbon products. If we are able to obtain sufficient new supply agreements, we expect to be able to raise capital to fund such conversion of the Luverne Facility using project financing or other less expensive and less dilutive forms of capital as compared to the equity offerings that we are conducting hereby and have used in the past.

Subject to receipt of financing, we plan to scale up the Luverne Facility for the production of isobutanol and its derivative products. Upon, and subject to, securing adequate financing, we plan to build out the Luverne Facility to enable the production of isobutanol and its derivative products at levels sufficient to supply our initial larger scale off-take agreements with our customers.

Expand the global production capacity of isobutanol and its derivative hydrocarbon products via licensing. We have proven that the isobutanol production process works in full scale fermenter systems at the Luverne Facility, and we have also proven that our renewable isobutanol can be readily converted to hydrocarbon products at the Silsbee Facility. We intend to expand the global production of isobutanol and its derivative hydrocarbon products beyond the Luverne Facility through a low-cost, high-margin licensing model, in collaboration with partners such as Praj Industries, with whom we have previously announced a joint development agreement.

Latest Highlights and Developments

On October 3, 2018, we announced that Professor Frances Arnold of the California Institute of Technology has been awarded the 2018 Nobel Prize for Chemistry for her work on "the directed evolution of enzymes. As a co-founder of Gevo, Professor Arnold with her research group, developed some of the critical enzymes needed for Gevo's biological pathway to produce renewable resource-based isobutanol. Professor Arnold's work helped to establish Gevo as a leader in renewable resource based chemicals and fuels.

On September 12, 2018, we announced that Gevo and Virgin Australia Airlines, with the support of the Queensland Government, have accomplished another industry first by being the first to supply renewable jet fuel into a commercial airport infrastructure in Australia. Like the Fly Green Day at Chicago O'Hare International Airport in 2017, Gevo's renewable jet fuel was supplied using the general fuel system at Brisbane Airport. Gevo's renewable jet was used to fuel approximately 195 domestic and international flights departing from the Brisbane Airport since delivery.

On August 14, 2018, we announced that we entered into two separate operating leases and service agreements with Shockwave LLC to install Shockwave's Thermodynamic Corn Fractionation Process as well as related technology and equipment (collectively the "Shockwave Process") at the Luverne Facility. The Shockwave Process is expected to improve profitability of the Luverne Facility by lowering the cost of ethanol and isobutanol production, increasing the number and value of feed and protein products, producing corn oil for food use, and helping to lower the overall carbon footprint for the facility. The Shockwave Process is expected to be operational during the first half of 2019. The deployment of the Shockwave Process is an important step of our previously announced strategy to deploy capital at the Luverne Facility, and to use lower amounts of fossil-based energy sources to improve the C.I. score of our products.

Market Development, Sales and Production Strategy for 2018

In 2018, we intend to continue to develop the markets for our isobutanol, jet fuel, isooctane, and other products made from isobutanol and ethanol. Ultimately, our primary target is to enter into binding supply contracts for isobutanol and related hydrocarbon products that represent the majority of the production volumes to be produced at the expanded Luverne Facility that we plan to construct (the "Luverne Facility Expansion"). The focus for market development continues to be:

Isobutanol for the ethanol free gasoline market, primarily in reformulated gasoline or RFG areas. We plan to increase our distribution network, and add additional regions, broadening our distribution footprint. We intend to use isobutanol in our inventory in part to develop these sales.

Isooctane for gasoline and chemicals are expected to continue to be a priority. We expect the vast majority of sales to ship to the European Union. We expect that the demand for this product will continue to grow, and we may expand or modify the hydrocarbon demonstration plant at South Hampton Resources in Silsbee, Texas to increase capacity for isooctane. We intend to use renewable isobutanol in our inventory for the feedstock for this product. We expect to continue to work on securing a set of offtake contracts that would support the Luverne Facility Expansion.

We plan to sell ATJ for market development purposes and demonstrations. In certain niche markets, we have begun commercial sales that can be supported from the hydrocarbon demonstration plant at South Hampton Resources in Silsbee, Texas. We expect to continue to work on securing additional offtake contracts that would support the Luverne Facility Expansion.

In 2018, we expect to sell approximately 19 million gallons or more of ethanol, and approximately 56 thousand tons of its animal feed product. As previously announced, in 2018, we expect to improve the cash flow out of the Luverne Facility by optimizing the ethanol production processes, developing value added products for ethanol, animal feed, and corn oil produced at the Luverne Facility plant and further reducing the cost of the Luverne Facility's carbohydrates.

We expect to use our inventory of isobutanol to meet our market development needs in 2018. In 2017, we increased our on-hand inventory of isobutanol. During the production runs at the Luverne Facility in 2017, we also met our variable cost production targets for isobutanol. As previously disclosed, running isobutanol at a scale of 1.5 MGPY, the current capacity of the Luverne Facility, increases cash burn because not all of the fixed costs are covered given the low run rate relative to the design of certain isobutanol unit operations. We are prepared to ramp-up isobutanol production in response to positive demand and price appreciation. We continue to be focused on developing markets and generating cash using the current inventory. We expect to sell isobutanol into the gasoline blendstock market, as well as selling isooctane, jet fuel and other products made from inventoried isobutanol.

Luverne Facility Update

As previously announced, we are undertaking several initiatives to improve the profitability of the Luverne Facility. Specifically, we are adapting and optimizing the Luverne Facility's energy and equipment infrastructure to use lower amounts of lower fossil-based energy sources to lower the C.I. score of our products. Currently, we are in the process of installing the Shockwave Process. The Shockwave Process is expected to be operational during the first half of 2019. In addition, we are currently evaluating the implementation of one or more of the following systems or technologies to further lower our use of fossil-based energy sources at the Luverne Facility: combined heat and power systems; manure biogas, wind power and certain expansion and energy reduction technologies. We expect that by approximately the end of 2020 we will have completed certain projects at our Luverne Facility to improve the C.I. score of our products that will increase the value of our ethanol and related products and that should translate into increased revenues for us as a result of the credits associated with our renewable fuels under LCFS and/or RFS.

As previously disclosed, during 2017, we hired a third-party engineering firm to test the structural integrity of two carbon steel fermentation vessels. The results of the testing indicate that one of these fermentation vessels had at least one more year of life before needing repair, and the other one had approximately two months of life remaining.

Recently, we decided to repair the two carbon steel fermentation vessels. Repairs are expected to be completed by the first quarter of 2019 at the latest, at an estimated cost of approximately \$0.6 million. After the repairs, the estimated useful life of the vessels is expected to be twenty-years.

Path to Profitability

We believe that there are two paths by which we can become profitable. First, as described above, we believe that by optimizing the Luverne Facility's ethanol production processes to produce low-carbon ethanol, developing value-added products including higher value-add animal feed, and further reducing the cost of the Luverne Facility's carbohydrate feedstock, the Luverne Facility could become profitable (on a non-GAAP Cash EBITDA basis as described above) by approximately the end of 2021. Any profit generated would offset amounts required to develop our isobutanol and related hydrocarbon products business. Achievement of this goal is dependent on a number of factors and assumptions, including the timing of the completion of the decarbonization projects necessary to lower our CI score and the value of credits under LCFS in the future.

Secondly, we believe that the Company could become profitable if we are able to obtain binding off-take agreements for our isobutanol and related hydrocarbon products that justify the Luverne Facility Expansion. We believe that there is the potential to build a very large business around our isobutanol and related hydrocarbon products. We expect that the Luverne Facility Expansion would be the first step that could lead to multiple production facilities around the world producing our isobutanol and related hydrocarbon products. Achievement of this goal is dependent on a number of factors and assumptions, including obtaining offtake agreements and adequate financing for such expansion of our business.

Financial Condition

For the three months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, we incurred a consolidated net loss of \$6.9 million and \$4.2 million, respectively, and for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, we incurred a consolidated net loss of \$20.9 million and \$20.2 million, respectively, and we had an accumulated deficit of \$422.2 million at September 30, 2018. Our cash and cash equivalents at September 30, 2018 totaled \$38.3 million which is primarily being used for the following: (i) operating activities of our Luverne Facility; (ii) operating activities at our corporate headquarters in Colorado, including research and development work; (iii) capital improvements primarily associated with the Luverne Facility; (iv) exploration of strategic alternatives and new financings; and (v) debt service and repayment obligations.

We expect to incur future net losses as we continue to fund the development of our business. We have primarily relied on raising capital to fund our operations and debt service obligations by issuing common stock and warrants in underwritten public offerings. Those issuances have caused significant dilution to our existing stockholders. While we have sought, and will continue to seek, other, less dilutive forms of financing to fund our operations and debt service obligations, there is no assurance that we will be successful in doing so.

Based on our current operating plan, existing working capital at December 31, 2017 was not sufficient to meet the cash requirements to fund planned operations through the period that is one year after the date our 2017 financial statements were issued unless we are able to raise additional capital to fund operations. Our audited financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2017, were prepared under the assumption that we would continue our operations as a going concern. Our independent registered public accounting firm for the year ended December 31, 2017 included a "going concern" emphasis of matter paragraph in its report on our financial statements as of, and for the year ended, December 31, 2017. These conditions raise substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern may potentially affect our rights and obligations under our debt obligations.

The continued operation of our business is dependent upon raising additional capital through future public and private equity offerings, debt financings or through other alternative financing arrangements. In addition, the attainment of profitable operations are dependent upon future events, including (i) completing certain capital improvements at the Luverne Facility to produce low-carbon ethanol side-by-side with low-carbon isobutanol; (ii) completing our development activities resulting in commercial production and sales of low-carbon ethanol, isobutanol or isobutanol-derived products and/or technology, (iii) obtaining adequate financing to complete our development activities, including the build out of low-carbon ethanol capacity and further isobutanol and hydrocarbon production capacity, (iv) gaining market acceptance and demand for its products and services, (v) attracting and retaining qualified personnel; and (vi) the achievement of a level of revenues adequate to support our cost structure.

We may never achieve profitability or generate positive cash flows, and unless and until we do, we will continue to need to raise additional cash. We intend to fund future operations through additional private and/or public offerings. In addition, we may seek additional capital through arrangements with strategic partners or from other sources, may seek to restructure our debts and we will continue to address our cost structure. Such additional capital may not be available to us on acceptable terms or at all. Such additional capital may not be available to us on acceptable terms or at all. Notwithstanding, there can be no assurance that we will raise additional funds, or achieve or sustain profitability or positive flows from operations.

Non-GAAP Financial Information

Non-GAAP Cash EBITDA is a non-GAAP measure and is calculated by adding depreciation and non-cash stock compensation to GAAP loss/income from operations. Management believes that non-GAAP Cash EBITDA is useful to supplement to the Company's GAAP financial statements because management uses such information internally for its operating, budgeting and financial planning purposes. This non-GAAP financial measure also facilitates management's internal comparisons to Gevo's historical performance as well as comparisons to the operating results of other companies. In addition, Gevo believes this non-GAAP financial measure is useful to investors because it allows for greater transparency into the indicators used by management as a basis for its financial and operational decision making. Our measure of non-GAAP Cash EBITDA is not necessarily comparable to similarly titled captions of other companies due to different methods of calculation. Non-GAAP information is not prepared under a comprehensive set of accounting rules and therefore, should only be read in conjunction with financial information reported under U.S. GAAP when understanding Gevo's operating performance.

31

Results of Operations

Comparison of the Three Months Ended September 30, 2018 and 2017

	Three Months Ended September 30,			
(in thousands)	2018	2017	Change	
Revenue and cost of goods sold				
Ethanol sales and related products, net	\$8,071	\$7,376	\$695	
Hydrocarbon revenue	504	235	269	
Grant and other revenue	-	88	(88)
Total revenues	8,575	7,699	876	
Cost of goods sold	10,628	9,709	919	
Gross loss	(2,053)	(2,010)	(43)
Operating expenses				
Research and development expense	1,865	1,210	655	
Selling, general and administrative expense	2,190	1,893	297	
Total operating expenses	4,055	3,103	952	
Loss from operations	(6,108)	(5,113)	(995)
Other (expense) income				
Interest expense	(767)	(811)	44	
Gain/(Loss) from change in fair value of derivative warrant liability	5	(413)	418	
(Loss)/Gain from change in fair value of 2020 Notes embedded derivative	(7)	2,184	(2,191	
Other expense	(3)	-	(3	
Total other expense, net	(772)	960	(1,732)
Net loss	\$(6,880)	\$(4,153)	\$(2,727)

Revenues. Ethanol sales and related products, net for the three months ended September 30, 2018 was \$8.1 million, an increase of \$0.7 million compared to the three months ended September 30, 2017. This increase was primarily a result of increased ethanol and distiller grain sales. During the three months ended September 30, 2018, we sold 5.1 million gallons of ethanol compared to 4.2 million gallons of ethanol sold during the three months ended September 30, 2017. Hydrocarbon revenue, comprised of ATJ, isooctane and isooctene sales, increased by \$0.3 million during the three months ended September 30, 2017, as a result of an increase in shipments of finished products from our demonstration plant located at the South Hampton Resources, Inc. facility

in Silsbee, Texas (the "South Hampton Facility").

Cost of goods sold. Cost of goods sold was \$10.6 million during the three months ended September 30, 2018, compared to \$9.7 million during the three months ended September 30, 2017, an increase of \$0.9 million. Cost of goods sold included approximately \$9.0 million associated with the production of ethanol and related products and approximately \$1.6 million in depreciation expense.

Research and development expense. Research and development expense increased by approximately \$0.7 million during the three months ended September 30, 2018, compared to the three months ended September 30, 2017, due primarily to the ongoing expansion of the South Hampton Facility.

Selling, general and administrative expense. Selling, general and administrative expense increased by approximately \$0.3 million during the three months ended September 30, 2018, compared to the three months ended September 30, 2017 due primarily to an increase in employee related expenses.

Interest expense. Interest expense for the three months ended September 30, 2018 was \$0.8 million, a decrease of less than \$0.1 million compared to the three months ended September 30, 2017, due to an decrease in the outstanding principal of the 2020 Notes.

(*Loss*)/*Gain from change in fair value of derivative warrant liability*. During the three months ended September 30, 2018 we incurred a \$5,000 non-cash gain on changes in the fair value of the derivative warrant liability, due to a decrease in the price of our common stock combined with a decline in the remaining term of the agreements.

(Loss)/Gain from change in fair value of the 2020 Notes embedded derivative. During the three months ended September 30, 2018, the estimated fair value of the 2020 Notes embedded derivative liability decreased, resulting in a non-cash loss of \$7,000 primarily due to the increase of the principal balance of the 2020 Notes as a result of the increased principal balance due to our decision to pay a portion of the interest due at September 30, 2018 in the form of paid-in-kind interest.

32

Comparison of the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2018 and 2017

	Nine Months Ended September 30,		
(in thousands)	2018	2017	Change
Revenue and cost of goods sold			
Ethanol sales and related products, net	\$25,102	\$19,709	\$5,393
Hydrocarbon revenue	1,111	984	127
Grant and other revenue	25	163	(138)
Total revenues	26,238	20,856	5,382
Cost of goods sold	31,904	28.822	3,082
Gross loss	(5,666)	(7,966)	2,300
Operating expenses			
Research and development expense	4,123	4,318	(195)
Selling, general and administrative expense	5,697	6,190	(493)
Total operating expenses	9,820	10,508	(688)
Loss from operations	(15,486)	(18,474)	2,988
Other (expense) income			
Interest expense	(2,496)	(2,152)	(344)
(Loss) on exchange or conversion of debt	(2,202)	(4,933)	2,731
(Loss) from change in fair value of the 2017 Notes	-	(339)	339
(Loss)/Gain from change in fair value of derivative warrant liability	(3,035)	5,106	(8,141)
Gain from change in fair value of 2020 Notes embedded derivative	2,340	522	1,818
Other income	5	26	(21)
Total other expense, net	(5,388)	(1,770)	(3,618)
Net loss	\$(20,874)	\$(20,244)	\$630

Revenues. Ethanol sales and related products, net for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 was \$25.1 million, an increase of \$5.4 million from the nine months ended September 30, 2017. This increase was primarily a result of greater ethanol and distiller grain sales. During the nine months ended September 30, 2018, we sold 14.9 million gallons of ethanol compared to 11.5 million gallons of ethanol sold during the nine months ended September 30, 2017. Hydrocarbon revenue, comprised of ATJ, isooctane, and isooctene sales, increased during the nine months ended September 30, 2018 primarily as a result of an increase in shipments of finished products from our South Hampton Facility. Grant and other revenue was \$25,000 during the nine months ended September 30, 2018, a decrease of \$0.1 million as compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2017, primarily as a result of the Company's activities from the Northwest Advanced Renewables Alliances ending in the third quarter of 2017.

Cost of goods sold. Cost of goods sold was \$31.9 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2018, compared with \$28.8 during the nine months ended June 30, 2017. Cost of goods sold in the 2018 period included approximately \$27.2 million associated with the production of ethanol, isobutanol and related products and approximately \$4.7 million in depreciation expense.

Research and development expense. Research and development expense decreased by approximately \$0.2 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2018, compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2017, due primarily to a decrease in employee related expenses, offset by expenses related to the current expansion of the South Hampton Facility.

Selling, general and administrative expense. Selling, general and administrative expense decreased by approximately \$0.5 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2018, compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2017, due primarily to an decrease in employee related expenses.

Interest expense. Interest expense for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 was \$2.5 million, which was an increase of \$0.3 million compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2017, due to an increase in the interest rate on our outstanding debt obligations as a result of the September 20, 2017 exchange of the 2020 Notes.

(Loss) on exchange or conversion of debt. During the nine months ended September 30, 2018, we incurred a non-cash loss of \$2.2 million due primarily to an increase in the price of our common stock at the time of the conversion.

(*Loss*)/*Gain from change in fair value of derivative warrant liability*. During the nine months ended September 30, 2018, we incurred a non-cash loss of approximately \$3.0 million, due primarily to the exercise of 251 Series A Warrants to purchase 251 shares of our common stock, and 300,510 Series K Warrants to purchase 300,510 shares of our common stock. The loss was the result of an increased price of our common stock at the time of exercise of the warrants.

Gain from change in fair value of the 2020 notes embedded derivative. During the nine months ended September 30, 2018, the estimated fair value of the 2020 Notes embedded derivative liability decreased, resulting in a non-cash gain of \$2.3 million primarily due to the increase in the price of our common stock.

Revenues, Cost of Goods Sold and Operating Expenses

Revenues

During the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, we generated revenue from: (i) the sale of ethanol, isobutanol and related products, net; (ii) hydrocarbon sales consisting primarily of the sale of ATJ fuel, isooctane and isooctene derived from our isobutanol for purposes of certification and testing; and (iii) government grants and research and development programs.

Cost of Goods Sold and Gross Loss

Cost of goods sold during the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 primarily includes costs directly associated with isobutanol production and ethanol production at the Luverne Facility, such as costs for direct materials, direct labor, depreciation, other operating costs and certain plant overhead costs. Direct materials include corn feedstock, denaturant and process chemicals. Direct labor includes compensation of personnel directly involved in production operations at the Luverne Facility. Other operating costs include utilities and natural gas usage.

Our gross loss is defined as our total revenue less our cost of goods sold.

Research and Development

Our research and development costs consist of expenses incurred to identify, develop and test our technologies for the production of isobutanol and the development of downstream applications thereof. Research and development expenses include personnel costs (including stock-based compensation), consultants and related contract research, facility costs, supplies, depreciation and amortization expense on property, plant and equipment used in product development, license fees paid to third parties for use of their intellectual property and patent rights and other overhead expenses incurred to support our research and development programs. Research and development expenses also include upfront fees and milestone payments made under licensing agreements and payments for sponsored research and university research gifts to support research at academic institutions.

Selling, General and Administrative

Selling, general and administrative expenses consist of personnel costs (including stock-based compensation), consulting and service provider expenses (including patent counsel-related costs), legal fees, marketing costs, corporate insurance costs, occupancy-related costs, depreciation and amortization expenses on property, plant and equipment not used in our product development programs or recorded in cost of goods sold, travel and relocation and hiring expenses.

We also record selling, general and administrative expenses for the operations of the Luverne Facility that include administrative and oversight expenses, certain personnel-related expenses, insurance and other operating expenses.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our independent auditor included "going-concern" language in our audited financial statements for the year-ended December 31, 2017. For more information, see "—Financial Condition."

Since our inception in 2005, we have devoted most of our cash resources to manufacturing, research and development, defense of intellectual property and selling, general and administrative activities related to the commercialization of isobutanol, as well as related products from renewable feedstocks. We have incurred losses since inception and expect to incur losses through at least the remainder of 2018 and likely beyond. To date, we have financed our operations primarily with proceeds from multiple issuances of equity and debt securities, borrowings under debt facilities and product sales.

34

The continued operation of our business, including the Luverne Facility Expansion, is dependent upon raising additional capital through future public and private equity offerings, debt financings or through other alternative financing arrangements. In addition, successful completion of our research and development programs and the attainment of profitable operations are dependent upon future events, including access to sufficient capital, repayment of our current debt, completion of our development activities resulting in sales of isobutanol or isobutanol-derived products and/or technology, achieving market acceptance and demand for our products and services and attracting and retaining qualified personnel. Such additional capital may not be available to us on acceptable terms or at all.

As of September 30, 2018, we had an accumulated deficit of \$422.2 million with cash and cash equivalents totaling \$38.3 million.

The following table sets forth the major sources and uses of cash for each of the periods set forth below (in thousands):

	Nine Months		
	Ended September		
	30,		
	2018	2017	
Net cash used in operating activities	\$(10,154)	\$(16,441)	
Net cash used in investing activities	\$(933)	\$(1,682)	
Net cash provided by financing activities	\$37,850	\$2,388	

Operating Activities

Our primary uses of cash from operating activities are personnel-related expenses, research and development-related expenses, which include costs incurred under development agreements; costs and expenses for the production of ethanol, isobutanol and related products; logistics costs; costs associated with further processing of isobutanol and costs associated with the operation of the South Hampton Facility and debt service payments.

During the nine months ended September 30, 2018, we used \$10.2 million in cash from operating activities primarily resulting from a net loss of \$20.9 million, a \$1.3 million increase in working capital, and \$9.4 million in non-cash operating activities.

Investing Activities

During the nine months ended September 30, 2018, we used \$0.9 million in cash from investing activities primarily related to capital expenditures at our Luverne Facility.

Financing Activities

During the nine months ended September 30, 2018, we raised \$37.9 million from our financing activities, primarily from the \$37.8 million in gross proceeds from our at-the-market offering program, \$1.3 million raised from the exercise of our Series A Warrant and Series K Warrants, offset by \$0.9 million in commissions to our sales agent under the at-the-market offering program and \$0.4 million in offering costs related to the at-the-market offering program

At-the-Market Offering Program. In February 2018, we commenced an at-the-market offering program, which initially allowed us to sell and issue up to \$5.0 million of shares of our common stock. The at-the-market offering program was amended multiple times in June 2018 to increase the available capacity under the at-the-market offering program by an aggregate of approximately \$84.9 million

During the nine months ended September 30, 2018, we issued 6,391,617 shares of common stock (after giving effect to the one-for-twenty reverse stock split effected on June 1, 2018) under the at-the-market offering program for gross proceeds of \$37.8 million. We paid commissions to our sales agent of approximately \$0.9 million and incurred other offering related expenses of \$0.4 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2018.

During the three months ended September 30, 2018, we issued 105,000 shares of common stock under the at-the-market offering program for gross proceeds of \$0.4 million. We paid commissions to our sales agent of approximately \$10,000 and incurred other offering related expenses of approximately \$66,000 during the three months ended September 30, 2018.

We sold an additional 545,313 shares of common stock, for gross proceeds of \$2.4 million after September 30, 2018. As of September 30, 2018, the Company has remaining capacity to issue up to approximately \$52.0 million of additional shares of common stock under the at-the-market offering program. Net proceeds are intended to be used to fund working capital and for other general corporate purposes, which may include repayment of outstanding indebtedness.

On April 19, 2017, we entered into an Exchange and Purchase Agreement (the "Purchase Agreement") with WB Gevo, LTD, and Whitebox Advisors LLC, in its capacity as representative of the holder ("Whitebox"). Pursuant to the terms of the Purchase Agreement, the holder, subject to certain conditions, including approval of the transaction by our stockholders (which was received on June 15, 2017), agreed to exchange all of the outstanding principal amount of the 2017 Notes for an equal principal amount of our newly created 2020 Notes, plus an amount in cash equal to the accrued and unpaid interest (other than interest paid in kind) on the 2017 Notes (the "Exchange"). On June 20, 2017, we completed the Exchange, terminated the 2017 Notes Indenture and cancelled the 2017 Notes.

As noted above, in June 2018, the holders of our 2020 Notes converted an aggregate of \$3.2 million of outstanding principal and \$0.7 million in "make-whole" interest in exchange for an aggregate of 260,793 shares of our common stock. As of September 30, 2018, the outstanding principal on the 2020 Notes, including paid-in-kind interest, was \$13.7 million.

The 2020 Notes will mature on March 15, 2020. The 2020 Notes bear interest at a rate equal to 12% per annum (with 2% potentially payable as PIK Interest (as defined and described below) at our option), payable on March 31, June 30, September 30, and December 31 of each year. Under certain circumstances, we have the option to pay a portion of the interest due on the 2020 Notes by either (a) increasing the principal amount of the 2020 Notes by the amount of interest then due or (b) issuing additional 2020 Notes with a principal amount equal to the amount of interest then due (interest paid in the manner set forth in (a) or (b) being referred to as "PIK Interest").

The 2020 Notes are convertible into shares of our common stock, subject to certain terms and conditions. The current conversion price of the 2020 Notes is equal to \$14.72 per share of common stock, or 0.06795 shares of common stock per \$1 principal amount of 2020 Notes.

See Note 7, Debt, to our consolidated financial statements included herein for further discussion of the 2020 Notes.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Except for the adoption of ASC 606 "*Revenues from Contracts with Customers*" (see Note 3 for the updated revenue recognition policy in accordance with ASU 2014-09), there have been no significant changes to our critical accounting policies since December 31, 2017. However, see Note 1, *Nature of Business, Financial Condition and Basis of Presentation*, to our consolidated financial statements included herein for a discussion of recently issued accounting pronouncements and their impact or future potential impact on our financial results, if determinable. For a description of critical accounting policies that affect our significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements, refer to our Annual Report.

Contractual Obligations and Commitments

The following summarizes the future commitments arising from our contractual obligations at September 30, 2018 (in thousands).

	Less than 1 year	1 - 3 years	4 - 5 years	5+ Years	Total
Principal debt payments (1)	\$ -	\$14,112	\$ -	\$ -	\$14,112
Interest payments on debt (2)	1,381	646	-	-	2,027
Operating leases (3)	1,262	755	-	-	2,017

Edgar Filing: Gevo, Inc. - Form 10-Q

Insurance, maintenance and other	402	196	208	-	806
Total	\$3,045	\$15,709	\$ 208	-	\$18,962

(1)Represents cash principal payments due to the holders of the 2020 Notes.

(2)Represents interest payments due to the holders of the 2020 Notes.

(3) Represents commitments for operating leases related to our leased facility in Englewood, Colorado and our lease for rail cars in Luverne, Minnesota for ethanol and isobutanol shipments.

The table above reflects only payment obligations that are fixed and determinable as of September 30, 2018.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of September 30, 2018, we did not have any material off-balance sheet arrangements, except for operating lease obligations disclosed in our commitment and contingencies table above.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

There was no material change in our market risk exposure during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018. For a discussion of our market risk associated with commodity prices, equity prices and interest rates, see "Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk" in Part II, Item 7A of our Annual Report.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures, as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the "Exchange Act"), that are designed to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required financial disclosures.

Management, including the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and our Principal Financial Officer, conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based on this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of September 30, 2018. In designing and evaluating our disclosure controls and procedures, management recognized that disclosure controls and procedures, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable but not absolute assurance that the objectives of the disclosure controls and procedures are met. The design of any disclosure control and procedure also is based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended September 30, 2018 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings.

From time to time, we have been and may again become involved in legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of our business. We are not presently a party to any litigation that we believe to be material and we are not aware of any pending or threatened litigation against us that we believe could have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results, financial condition or cash flows.

Item 1A. Risk Factors.

You should carefully consider the risk factors discussed in Part I, Item 1A. "Risk Factors" in our Annual Report and the risk factors set forth below, which could materially affect our business, financial condition, cash flows or future results. Except as set forth below, there have been no material changes in our risk factors included in our Annual Report. The risk factors described herein and in our Annual Report are not the only risks facing our company. Additional risks and uncertainties not currently known to us or that we currently deem to be immaterial also may materially adversely affect our business, financial condition or future results.

We have a history of net losses, and we may not achieve or maintain profitability.

We incurred net losses of \$20.9 million and \$20.2 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively, and \$24.6 million, \$37.2 million, and \$36.2 million during the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively. As of September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, we had an accumulated deficit of \$422.2 million and \$401.4 million, respectively. We expect to incur losses and negative cash flows from operating activities for the foreseeable future. We currently derive revenue primarily from the sale of ethanol, isobutanol and related products at the Luverne Facility, although over certain periods of time, we may and have operated the plant for the sole production of ethanol and related products to maximize cash flows.

Additionally, we have generated limited revenue from the sale of products such as ATJ, isooctane and isooctene produced from isobutanol that has been used for demonstration commercial flights, jet engine qualification and flight demonstration by the U.S. Air Force and other branches of the U.S. military, as well as specialty gasoline applications such as racing fuel. We have also generated revenue through grants and cooperative agreements. If we are unable to obtain new grants, cooperative agreements or product supply contracts, our revenues could be adversely affected.

Furthermore, we expect to spend significant amounts on the further development and commercial implementation of our technology. Our technology is designed to permit the Retrofit of existing ethanol production facilities. A "Retrofit" means either (i) modifying an existing ethanol production facility whereby equipment is added to the facility and the existing fermenters are used to produce isobutanol rather than ethanol, or (ii) modifying an existing ethanol facility to add fermenters and other equipment such that the facility is capable of producing both ethanol and isobutanol simultaneously "side by side."

We also expect to spend significant amounts acquiring and deploying additional equipment to attain final product specifications that may be required by future customers, on marketing, general and administrative expenses associated with our planned growth, on management of operations as a public company, and on debt service obligations. In addition, the cost of preparing, filing, prosecuting, maintaining and enforcing patent, trademark and other intellectual property rights and defending ourselves against claims by others that we may be violating their intellectual property rights may be significant.

In particular, over time, costs related to defending the validity of our issued patents and challenging the validity of the patents of others at the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office may be significant. As a result, even if our revenues increase substantially, we expect that our expenses will exceed revenues for the foreseeable future. We do not expect to achieve profitability during the foreseeable future, and may never achieve it. If we fail to achieve profitability, or if the time required to achieve profitability is longer than we anticipate, we may not be able to continue our business. Even if we do achieve profitability, we may not be able to sustain or increase profitability on a quarterly or annual basis.

We will require substantial additional financing to achieve our goals, and a failure to obtain this capital when needed or on acceptable terms could force us to delay, limit, reduce or terminate our development and commercialization efforts.

Significant portions of our resources have been dedicated to research and development, as well as demonstrating the effectiveness of our technology through the Retrofit of the Luverne Facility. We believe that we will continue to expend substantial resources for the foreseeable future on further developing our technologies, developing future markets for our products, and constructing facilities necessary for the production of our products on a commercial scale. These expenditures may include costs associated with research and development, accessing existing ethanol plants, Retrofitting or otherwise modifying the plants to produce our products, obtaining government and regulatory approvals, acquiring or constructing storage facilities and negotiating supply agreements for the products we produce. In addition, other unanticipated costs may arise. Because the costs of developing our technology at a commercial scale are highly uncertain, we cannot reasonably estimate the amounts necessary to successfully commercialize our production.

To date, we have funded our operations primarily through equity offerings, issuances of debt, borrowing under our secured debt financing arrangements and revenues earned primarily from the sale of ethanol and related products. Based on our current plans and expectations, we will require additional funding to achieve our goals. In addition, the cost of preparing, filing, prosecuting, maintaining and enforcing patent, trademark and other intellectual property rights and defending against claims by others that we may be violating their intellectual property rights may be significant. Moreover, our plans and expectations may change as a result of factors currently unknown to us, and we may need additional funds sooner than planned and may seek to raise additional funds through public or private debt

or equity financings in the near future. We may also choose to seek additional capital sooner than required due to favorable market conditions or strategic considerations.

Our future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including:

the timing of and costs of adding unit operations to achieve low-carbon ethanol;

the timing of, and costs involved in building out a full scale isobutanol and hydrocarbons plant;

the timing of, and costs involved in obtaining permits;

the ability for us to deploy strains of yeast with improved performance that help to lower capital cost;

the costs involved in acquiring and deploying additional equipment to attain final product specifications including at the Luverne Facility, that may be required by future customers;

the costs involved in increasing production capacity of our products, including at the Luverne Facility; our ability to negotiate agreements supplying suitable biomass to our plants, and the timing and terms of those agreements;

the timing of, and the costs involved in developing adequate storage facilities for the products we produce; our ability to gain market acceptance for isobutanol as a specialty chemical, gasoline blendstock and as a raw material for the production of hydrocarbons;

our ability to negotiate supply agreements for the products we produce, and the timing and terms of those agreements, including terms related to sales price;

our ability to negotiate sales of our products and the timing and terms of those sales, including terms related to sales price;

our ability to sell the iDGs left as a co-product of fermenting isobutanol from corn as animal feedstock; our ability to establish and maintain strategic partnerships, licensing or other arrangements and the timing and terms of those arrangements; and

the cost of preparing, filing, prosecuting, maintaining, defending and enforcing patent, trademark and other intellectual property claims, including litigation costs and the outcome of such litigation.

Additional funds may not be available when we need them, on terms that are acceptable to us, or at all. In addition, our ability to raise additional funds will be subject to certain limitations in the agreements governing our indebtedness, including the 2020 Notes. If needed funds are not available to us on a timely basis, we may be required to delay, limit, reduce or terminate:

our research and development activities;

our plans to build out additional isobutanol and hydrocarbon capacity;

our plans to operate our ethanol plant;

our production of products at the Luverne Facility;

our production of hydrocarbons at the demonstration plant located at the South Hampton facility near Houston, Texas, or any other future facilities;

our efforts to prepare, file, prosecute, maintain and enforce patent, trademark and other intellectual property rights and defend against claims by others that we may be violating their intellectual property rights; and/or our activities in developing storage capacity and negotiating supply agreements that may be necessary for the commercialization of our products.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds.

None.

Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities.

None.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.

Not Applicable.

Item 5. Other Information.

None.

Item 6. Exhibits.

The exhibits listed below are filed or furnished as part of this report.

Exhibit	Description Previously Filed					Included
Number			Herewith			
		Form	File No.	Filing Date	Exhibit	
	<u>Amended and Restated Certificate of</u> <u>Incorporation of Gevo, Inc.</u>					
3.1	meorportation of Seve, me.	10 - K	001-35073		3.1	

Edgar Filing: Gevo, Inc. - Form 10-Q

3.2	<u>Certificate of Amendment to</u> <u>Amended and Restated Certificate of</u> <u>Incorporation of Gevo, Inc.</u>	8-K	001-35073	June 10, 2013	3.1
3.3	<u>Certificate of Amendment to</u> <u>Amended and Restated Certificate of</u> <u>Incorporation of Gevo, Inc.</u>	8-K	001-35073	July 9, 2014	3.1
3.4	<u>Certificate of Amendment to</u> <u>Amended and Restated Certificate of</u> <u>Incorporation of Gevo, Inc.</u>	8-K	001-35073	April 22, 2015	3.1
3.5	<u>Certificate of Amendment to</u> <u>Amended and Restated Certificate of</u> <u>Incorporation of Gevo, Inc.</u>	8-K	001-35073	January 6, 2017	3.1
3.6	<u>Certificate of Amendment to</u> <u>Amended and Restated Certificate of</u> <u>Incorporation of Gevo, Inc.</u>	8-K	001-35073	June 4, 2018	3.1
3.7	<u>Amended and Restated Bylaws of</u> Gevo. Inc.	10-K	001-35073	March 29, 2011	3.2
4.1	Form of the Gevo, Inc. Common Stock Certificate.	S-1	333-168792	January 19, 2011	4.1
4.2	Fifth Amended and Restated Investors' Rights Agreement, dated March 26, 2010.	S-1	333-168792	August 12, 2010	4.2
4.3†	Stock Issuance and Stockholder's Rights Agreement, dated July 12, 2005, by and between Gevo, Inc. and California Institute of Technology.	S-1	333-168792	August 12, 2010	4.3

Exhibit	Description	Previously Filed				Included
Number	nber	Form	File No.	Filing Date	Exhibit	Herewith
4.4	<u>Common Stock Unit Warrant</u> <u>Agreement, dated December 16, 2013, by</u> <u>and between Gevo, Inc. and the</u> <u>American Stock Transfer & Trust</u> <u>Company, LLC.</u>	8-K	001-35073	December 16, 2013	4.1	

Exhibit Number	Description	Previo Form	usly Filed File No.	Filing Date	Exhibit	Included Herewith
4.5	Exchange and Purchase Agreement, dated April 19, 2017, by and among Gevo, Inc., the guarantors party thereto, the holders named in Schedule I thereto, and Whitebox Advisors LLC, in its capacity as representative of the holders.	8-K	001-35037	April 20, 2017	4.1	
4.6	Indenture, dated June 20, 2017, by and among Gevo, Inc., the guarantors party thereto, and Wilmington Savings Fund Society, FSB, as trustee and collateral trustee.	8-K	001-35037	June 20, 2017	4.1	
4.7	Registration Rights Agreement, dated June 20, 2017, by and among Gevo, Inc. and the investors named therein.	8-K	001-35037	June 20, 2017	4.2	
4.8	Common Stock Unit Warrant Agreement, dated August 5, 2014, by and between Gevo, Inc. and the American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC.	8-K	001-35073	August 6, 2014	4.1	
4.9	2015 Common Stock Unit Series A Warrant Agreement, dated February 3, 2015, by and between Gevo, Inc. and the American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC.	8-K	001-35073	February 4, 2015	4.1	
4.10	2015 Common Stock Unit Series C Warrant Agreement, dated May 19, 2015 by and between Gevo, Inc. and the American Stock Transfer & Trust	8-K	001-35073	May 20, 2015	4.1	

Edgar Filing: Gevo, Inc. - Form 10-Q

Company LLC.

4.11	Form of Series D Warrant to Purchase Common Stock.	8-K	001-35037	December 15, 2015	4.1
4.12	Form of Amendment No. 1 to Series D Warrant	8-K	001-35037	June 13, 2016	4.1

Exhibit	Description	Duravia		Included			
Number	Description	Previot	Previously Filed				
		Form	File No.	Filing Date	Exhibit		
4.13	Form of Series F Warrant to Purchase Common Stock.	8-K	001-35037	April 5, 2016	4.1		
4.14	Form of Series I Warrant to Purchase Common Stock	8-K	001-35037	September 15, 2016	4.1		
4.15	Form of Series K Warrant to Purchase Common Stock	8-K	001-35037	February 22, 2017	4.1		
31.1	Section 302 Certification of the Principal Executive Officer.					Х	
31.2	Section 302 Certification of the Principal Financial Officer.					Х	
32.1	Section 906 Certification of the Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer.**					Х	
101	Financial statements from the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Gevo, Inc. for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2018, formatted in XBRL: (i) the Consolidated Balance Sheets, (ii) the Consolidated Statements of Operations, (iii) the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, and (iv) Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.					Х	

Certain portions have been omitted pursuant to a confidential treatment request. Omitted information has been filed separately with the SEC.

```
**Furnished herewith
```

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

Gevo, Inc.

(REGISTRANT)

By:/s/ Bradford K. Towne Bradford K. Towne

Chief Accounting Officer

(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

Date: November 6, 2018